

LUND UNIVERSITY

From Crisis to Care: The evolution of Nurses' Work Environments Post-Pandemic. Nurses' work situation and health before, during and after the COVID-19 pandemic Nagel, Cicilia

2025

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Nagel, C. (2025). From Crisis to Care: The evolution of Nurses' Work Environments Post-Pandemic. Nurses' work situation and health before, during and after the COVID-19 pandemic. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Laboratory Medicine]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

Creative Commons License: CC BY

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

· You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain

You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

From Crisis to Care: The Evolution of Nurses' Work Environments Post-Pandemic

Nurses' work situation and health before, during and after the COVID-19 pandemic

CICILIA NAGEL

DEPARTMENT OF LABORATORY MEDICINE | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY



From Crisis to Care: The Evolution of Nurses' Work Environments Post-Pandemic

Nurses' work situation and health before, during and after the COVID-19 pandemic.

Cicilia Nagel



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) at the Faculty of Medicine at Lund University to be publicly defended on 25 of April at 09.00 in Forum Medicum, BMC: E11073 Rådslaget, Sölvegatan 19

> *Faculty opponent* Christine Kumlien, Professor, Malmö University

Organization: LUND UNIVERSITY

Document name:

Date of issue 2025-04-25

Author(s): Cicilia Nagel

Title and subtitle: From Crisis to Care: The evolution of Nurses Work Environments Post-Pandemic. Nurses' worksituation and health before, during and after the COVID-19 pandemic.

Abstract:

There is a knowledge gap regarding what contributes to staff well-being in extreme work situations. Nurses play a critical role in healthcare, but face high workloads, risk of burnout and lack of resources. The COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the important role of nurses and the challenges they face, highlighting the need to manage work-related stress and promote self-care. A good work environment, characterized by safety, support and balance, is crucial for both patient care and the well-being of the nursing staff. This thesis examines how the COVID-19 pandemic affected the nurses' work situation and health and what measures are needed in similar scenarios. To achieve this aim, both questionnaires and interviews were used. The SwAge model was used as the theoretical framework throughout the research process. During the COVID-19 pandemic, nurses faced increased workloads, lack of control, and ethical dilemmas, leading to stress and moral distress. They experienced physical and mental health issues due to inadequate resources and support. Despite these challenges, some found satisfaction in their roles, professional growth, and teamwork. The pandemic highlighted the need for better workload management, support systems, and organizational responses to improve nurses' well-being and resilience, transforming stress into strength through a salutogenic approach. In conclusion, the pandemic has shown the need to empower nurses by giving them more control over their duties and responsibilities, both as individuals and as a group. This increases job satisfaction. productivity and psychological resilience. The insights from this research are essential for designing healthy and sustainable workplaces in the future, especially with a focus on nurses' work environment. This knowledge could contribute to reduce sickness absence, prevent nurses leaving the profession, promote health and increase the opportunities for longer careers, in line with the UN's sustainability goals in Agenda 2030.

Key words: Nurse, Health, Work environment, COVID-19, Salutogenic, PathogenicClassification system and/or index terms (if any)Supplementary bibliographical informationLanguage: EnglishISSN and key title: 1652-8220ISBN: 978-91-8021-690-6Number of pages: 82PriceSecurity classification

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Date 2025-02-27

From Crisis to Care: The Evolution of Nurses' Work Environments Post-Pandemic

Nurses' work situation and health before, during and after the COVID-19 pandemic.

Cicilia Nagel



Coverphoto by Cicilia Nagel (Al-generated) Copyright pp 1-82 Cicilia Nagel

Paper 1 © Sustainability Paper 2 © Int Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health Paper 3 © by the Authors (Manuscript under review) Paper 4 © BMC Public Health

Faculty of Medicine Department of Laboratory Medicine

ISBN 978-91-8021-690-6 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2025



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se



To my monster-princess, I love you more than life itself. To T – thank you for putting up with me and for taking my mind off work by our weekly rituals of GT and "junk -TV" and lastly to my mom and dad, my twin pillars who have always told me I can achieve anything if I work for it.

Table of Contents

Abstract	8
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	9
List of Papers	11
Author's contribution to the papers	12
Abbreviations	13
Preface	14
Prologue: Historical perspective	16
Florence Nightingale	16
Mary Seacole	17
Introduction	19
Background	19
Nurse shortage amid growing healthcare demands	19
The nursing profession	
Nurses coping strategies and empowerment	
Nurses' resilience and flourishing	23
Workplace health promotion and prevention	24
Health as a concept	
Stress and work-related stress	27
Sustainable working life from the SwAge model	
Rationale	
Aim	
Methods	
Study design and overview	
Context	
Pre-collected data: sample, procedure, and data collection.	35
Oualitative studies	
Study I and IV: Sample and data collection	
Quantitative studies	
Study II and III: Sample and data collection	
Analysis	
Qualitative analysis	

Quantitative analysis	39
Ethical considerations	40
Preunderstanding	41
Findings	43
Pathogenic factors in healthcare: Challenges and consequences for	r nurses'
health	43
Not having control	43
Stress of conscience	44
Experience of ill-health and lack of recuperation	44
Feeling exasperated and dissatisfied	46
From stress to strength: Salutogenic superpowers!	46
Organizational response	46
Experiencing satisfaction and flourishing	47
Discussion	48
Loss of control and identity	48
Balancing Duty and Safety	49
Safeguarding nurses' health	49
The impact of COVID-19 on nurses' stress	51
Resilience amidst crises	52
The impact of social and instrumental support on nurses' wel	1-being.54
Creating a person-centred workplace	56
Methodological considerations	58
Conclusion	60
Knowledge contribution and relevance	61
Need for further research	61
Epilogue	62
Initiated and planned research studies:	65
Acknowledgements	65
References	67

Abstract

There is a knowledge gap regarding what contributes to staff well-being in extreme work situations. Nurses play a critical role in healthcare, but face high workloads, risk of burnout and lack of resources. The COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the important role of nurses and the challenges they face, highlighting the need to manage work-related stress and promote self-care. A good work environment, characterized by safety, support and balance, is crucial for both patient care and the well-being of the nursing staff. This thesis examines how the COVID-19 pandemic affected the nurses' work situation and health and what measures are needed in similar scenarios. To achieve this aim, both questionnaires and interviews were used. The SwAge model was used as the theoretical framework throughout the research process. During the COVID-19 pandemic, nurses faced increased workloads, lack of control, and ethical dilemmas, leading to stress and moral distress. They experienced physical and mental health issues due to inadequate resources and support. Despite these challenges, some found satisfaction in their roles, professional growth, and teamwork. The pandemic highlighted the need for better workload management, support systems, and organizational responses to improve nurses' well-being and resilience, transforming stress into strength through a salutogenic approach. In conclusion, the pandemic has shown the need to empower nurses by giving them more control over their duties and responsibilities, both as individuals and as a group. This increases job satisfaction, productivity and psychological resilience. The insights from this research are essential for designing healthy and sustainable workplaces in the future, especially with a focus on nurses' work environment. This knowledge could contribute to reduce sickness absence, prevent leaving the profession, promote health and increase the opportunities for longer careers, in line with the UN's sustainability goals in Agenda 2030.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Introduktion

COVID-19-pandemin har belyst vikten av att dra nytta av lärdomarna från krisen för att kunna tillämpa dessa vid framtida organisatoriska förändringar, såsom vid nya pandemier. Det finns en kunskapslucka kring vad som bidrar till personalens välbefinnande i extrema arbetssituationer, och det är viktigt att identifiera faktorer och processer i arbetsmiljön som påverkar både fysisk och psykisk hälsa. Idag utgör legitimerade sjuksköterskor cirka 59 % av den globala sjukvårdspersonalen och spelar en avgörande roll i vården. De möter dock hög arbetsbelastning, risk för utbrändhet och brist på resurser. Det råder en betydande brist på sjuksköterskor, förvärrad av demografiska förändringar och att många lämnar yrket tidigt. Genom COVID-19-pandemin har sjuksköterskornas viktiga roll belysts och de utmaningar de står inför, vilket understryker behovet av att hantera arbetsrelaterad stress och främja egenvård. En god arbetsmiljö, präglad av säkerhet, stöd och balans, är avgörande för både patientvården och vårdpersonalens välbefinnande. Arbetsmiljön bör främja hälsa och förebygga sjukdom. Empowerment och bra strukturstöd på arbetsplatsen leder till bättre organisatorisk effektivitet och nöjdare medarbetare.

Syfte och metoder

Denna avhandling undersöker hur COVID-19 pandemin påverkade sjuksköterskornas arbetssituation och hälsa samt vilka åtgärder som behövs. För att uppnå detta syfte användes både enkäter och intervjuer. SwAge-modellen användes som teoretisk ram genom hela forskningsprocessen, vilket gav en strukturerad och konsekvent grund för att analysera och tolka data, och säkerställde att slutsatserna var välgrundade och teoretiskt förankrade.

Huvudsakliga resultat

Många sjuksköterskor omplacerades mot sin vilja och upplevde brist på kontroll över sina scheman, med frekventa ändringar i sista minuten och ökade arbetstimmar, vilket ledde till stress. Trots trötthet och stress drevs de av en stark pliktkänsla att vårda patienter och stötta sina kollegor. Personalbrist och brist på personlig skyddsutrustning skapade etiska och moraliska problem. Sjuksköterskor rapporterade fysiska och långsiktiga emotionella symptom, med ökade arbetsrelaterade psykiska problem. De hade ofta otillräcklig tid för återhämtning mellan skiften, även om vissa lyckades ta pauser utanför arbetet. De kände frustration över att allmänheten inte följde riktlinjer och upplevde oärlighet från ledningen om skyddsutrustningens hållbarhet och effektivitet. Organisationer svarade effektivt med krisplaner, teamarbetet förbättrades, och sjuksköterskor fick starkt stöd från kollegor och i viss utsträckning chefer. De upplevde professionell tillväxt och tillfredsställelse i att vara behövda och göra skillnad, samt visade motståndskraft och innovativ problemlösning.

Sammanfattning

Sammanfattningsvis har pandemin visat behovet av att stärka sjuksköterskor genom att ge dem mer kontroll över sina uppgifter och ansvar. Pandemin betonade också vikten av att balansera omsorgsplikten med sjuksköterskors säkerhet och behovet av stödiande ledningsstrukturer. välbefinnande. samt adekvat resursallokering och en hälsosam arbetsmiljö. Sjuksköterskors erfarenheter avslöjade betydande stress och frustration, vilket understryker behovet av robusta stödsystem. Den motståndskraft som vissa sjuksköterskor visade belyser potentialen för posttraumatisk tillväxt och vikten av en stödjande arbetskultur. Att skapa en personcentrerad arbetsplats som värdesätter vårdpersonalens behov och välbefinnande är därför avgörande. Genom att prioritera sjuksköterskors hälsa och integritet kan vårdorganisationer bättre hantera framtida kriser och bibehålla hög standard på patientvården.

Praktiska tillämpningar

Insikterna från detta projekt är väsentliga för att utforma hälsosamma och hållbara arbetsplatser i framtiden, särskilt med fokus på sjuksköterskors arbetsmiljö. Denna kunskap syftar till att minska sjukfrånvaron, förhindra avgång från sjuksköterskeyrket, samt främja sjuksköterskornas hälsa. Den förväntade nya kunskapen stämmer överens med FN:s hållbarhetsmål i Agenda 2030, framför allt mål 3 (God hälsa och välbefinnande) och 8 (Anständiga arbetsvillkor och ekonomisk tillväxt). Resultaten syftar till att ge insikter i att främja ett hälsosamt, förlängt och hållbart arbetsliv och anställningsbarhet för sjuksköterskor inom vårdsektorn.

List of Papers

The following papers are the basis of this thesis. In the text they will be referred to by their respective Roman numerals. The papers are appended at the end of the thesis.

Paper I

Nagel, C., Westergren, A., Persson, S. S., Lindström, P. N., Bringsén, Å., & Nilsson, K. (2022). Nurses' Work Environment during the COVID-19 Pandemic in a Person-Centred Practice—A Systematic Review. Sustainability (2071-1050), 14(10), 5785. Doi:10.3390/su14105785

Paper II

Nagel, C., & Nilsson, K. (2022). Nurses' Work-Related Mental Health in 2017 and 2020-A Comparative Follow-Up Study before and during the COVID-19 Pandemic. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *19*(23). Doi:10.3390/ijerph192315569.

Paper III

Nagel, C., & Nilsson, K. (202x). Predictors of nurses' work-related mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic - a paired follow-up study. [Submitted, under review]

Paper IV

Nagel, C., Nilsson Lindström, P., Westergren, A., Schön Persson, S., & Nilsson, K. (2025). Nurses' health and work experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic in Swedish prehospital and hospital care: a deductive content analysis through the lens of the SwAge-model. *BMC Public Health*, *25*, 304. Doi:10.1186/s12889-024-21152-x

Author's contribution to the papers

Paper I

Conceptualization. Framed the questions and the inclusion/exclusion criteria for the review with the help from the head supervisor. Performed the literature search in four databases. Quality assessment of articles with the help of the head supervisor. Individual analysis of the papers as well as comparing discussion with the head supervisor and co-authors. Original draft preparation and re-writes after discussion with co-authors and reviewers' comments. Communication with editors with the guidance of the head supervisor

Paper II

Conceptualization of the scope of the study, formal analysis with input from the head supervisor and a statistician. Original draft preparation and re-writes after discussion with co-author and reviewers' comments. Communication with editors.

Paper III

Conceptualization of the area of the study, formal analysis with input from the head supervisor. Original draft preparation and re-writes after discussion with co-author. Communication with editors.

Paper IV

Participation in project formulation including drawing up an interview guide. Contact with informants and responsible for data collection. Transcription, formal analysis and compilation of the original draft, re-writes after discussion with coauthors. Communication with editors.

Abbreviations

GRR	General Resistance Resources
JDCS	Job Demand-Control-Support
PPE	Personal Protective Equipment
PTSD	Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder
RN	Registered Nurse
SOC	Sense of Coherence
SRR	Specific Resistance Resources
SwAge	Sustainable Work environment for all Ages
WHO	World Health Organization

Preface

I became a nurse in 2002 after finishing my three years of education at nursing school at Mälardalen University in Västerås, but my real introduction to nursing came much earlier than that. Looking back, it is interesting to see that almost everyone in my family has in one way or another worked as a nurse or nurse's assistant. Growing up I would hear my mom (a nurse since 1987) talk about the ups and downs of the profession and I vowed never to be a nurse. Well, that lasted until I went on a one-year sabbatical to the U.S after graduating High School. Whilst working as a nanny, taking university courses and volunteering as a "candy striper" (hospital volunteer) I realized that I had found my calling. After all we are all products of our heroes, and in my case literally so.

Fast forward a few years I found myself working as a registered nurse in an emergency department where we had a mass exodus of experienced staff, and where I realized during a night shift about a year in that I was the most experienced nurse on duty. I began wondering why it is that some nurses leave the profession after only a few years whilst others (like my mom) work well beyond the retirement age? I never could figure out the answer since every time we (my colleagues and I) brought it up with management we were told that it was natural for nurses to want to move to other departments.

After working in the Emergency department for some time I wanted to challenge myself, so I uprooted my life and moved to Australia where I worked as a registered nurse in an Emergency department in Sydney for a few years. Even here lots of nurses left the department and/or the profession. Again, the thought of why nurses were leaving began swirling in my head. According to management it was natural for nurses to move on, but was that really the reason? And is this answer something they teach to managers around the world? When I asked the nurses, it was due to a myriad of reasons including salary and working conditions.

In 2016, I too was one of those nurses that quit nursing. For my part it was due to two doctors at the ward who made my (and other nurses) life a living hell. I am what people would call a "tough cookie" (having worked in construction you kind of had to be, especially when the boss happened to be your dad) but here I cried almost every day and dreaded having to go to work. However, I still loved the profession so when opportunity arose, I started teaching at the nursing program at Kristianstad University where I remained for several years. In those years the meetings and interactions with my students revitalized my motivation to work as a nurse and when the COVID-19 pandemic hit I went back to nursing part-time and remained as a teacher part-time.

In the fall of 2021, I saw an ad that they were looking for PhD Candidates for the project "This is why we cope! Nurses' work situation and health before, during and after the COVID-19 pandemic". I thought this is what I have been waiting for,

maybe now I can finally find the answer to my question on why nurses are leaving their workplaces and/or the profession, so I jumped at the chance, and I applied. Luckily for me I was accepted. Investigating nurses' health and work conditions is crucial for several reasons. Firstly, addressing the global nursing shortage requires us to improve work conditions to retain experienced nurses. This aligns with the UN 2030 Agenda's goals. Secondly, the work environment directly impacts nurses' overall health and well-being. By focusing on these areas, we can ensure a sustainable and healthy workforce, ultimately benefiting the entire healthcare system.

As my PhD journey nears its end, I reflect on the roller coaster of experiences—full of ups, downs, and unexpected twists. It has certainly been an interesting ride. I hope this research will spark meaningful discussions about nurses' work conditions and reach nursing associations and policymakers who can drive real change. The era of balcony applause is behind us; now is the time to take concrete action and make a difference.



A person who feels appreciated will always do more than what is expected

(unknown)

Prologue: Historical perspective

What started out in the 5th and 6th century as nuns caring for the sick and poor has progressed through time to a more medical profession. Florence Nightingale described nursing metaphorically as an art to convey that it required specialized skill, unique learning, and excellence in practice [1]. Wiederbach [2] also stated that nursing was an art since nurses help provide in whatever the patient needs. When we think about the concepts of salutogenesis and pathogenesis, we can discuss this by highlighting two iconic figures in healthcare: Florence Nightingale and Mary Seacole. Throughout my career the myth regarding Florence Nightingale has followed me like a shadow, the lady with the lamp who saw nursing as a calling. But who was she really, and why is the name Mary Seacole not as publicly known? Can we draw parallels to modern healthcare and the world we live in when we yet again face a war on the Crimean Peninsula?

Florence Nightingale

Florence realized early on that it was the nursing profession that she wanted to pursue, a not entirely respectable profession at the time. As this was not possible initially, she ended up in a deep depression in the middle of the 1840s [3]. Finally, after much effort, she was allowed to go to Germany and train as a nurse and returned to England to work. She had high-ranking friends in society and the ministry and through them she heard about the Crimean War. She was asked to go down to the Crimean Peninsula as a nurse and in early November 1854, only 20 days after she was asked to go down, she arrived with a group of nurses in Scutari [3, 4].

Florence believed that sickness or disease was nature's way of getting rid of the conditions that have interfered with health. That it was nature's attempt to cure [5]. She noticed that soldiers succumbed to typhus, dysentery, frostbite, malnutrition and cholera and she was convinced that the dirt surrounding the soldiers caused their illnesses [3]. On arrival in Scutari, she put the nurses at work in scrubbing the walls and floors of their clinical area and she also converted one of the buildings into a laundry so that the wounded soldiers would get clean clothes and bed linens [6]. Florence emphasized the importance of a healthy environment to promote recovery and prevent disease. Her work at the Scutari hospital involved improving sanitation, ventilation, and nutrition, which are key aspects of salutogenesis. Florence believed that healthy food was one of the foundations for healthcare. She was aware that a diet without fruit led to deficiency diseases thus she made sure that the soldiers got citrus fruits. She also made sure that the soldiers got cooked meat, fixed diet kitchens for patients with special needs and hired a French chef [3]. She believed in the healing power of nature and fresh air, and her famous rounds with the lamp were not just about care but also about ensuring a clean and orderly environment. Florence's approach also included understanding and mitigating the causes of disease. She meticulously collected data and used statistics to identify the sources of infections and high mortality rates among soldiers. Her efforts led to significant reforms in military and civilian hospitals, focusing on reducing the spread of infections and improving overall health care standards.

Moberg [3] writes in her book that judging by today's standards, it is close at hand to consider Florence Nightingale as the world's first case of burnout. That it is reasonable to think that the mass death and suffering that surrounded Florence during the Crimean War caused her immense grief and suffering. It is a strong belief among today's stress researchers that long periods with an overwhelming workload leads to a permanent hypersensitivity to stress [3]. Florence recovered mentally from her trials but rarely got out of her sick bed, she remained bedridden for almost 30 years [3]. She kept to her room and rarely allowed visitors, unless she felt her visitor could contribute to her work [4].

"... we see how little she feels equal to anything of the kind at present. She feels quite worn out at heart and absolute quiet is all that she desires..."

[Letter from Florence's sister to a friend. 4, p.281].

It is interesting that people often attribute Florences name and her calling to become a nurse as synonymous with accepting that nurses should not care about their wage. It could not be further from the truth, Florence believed that the fight for decent wages was important, that even though the work is carried out on behalf of God, it does not mean that the nurses should not be paid [3].

Florence was a prolific writer, and her writing had significant influence on hospital construction (Notes on Hospitals) and nursing (Notes on Nursing) [7]. Goldie writes that Florence's views on nursing and its organization naturally developed considerably during her period in the East and that she came to regard the welfare of the nurses as of the first importance [4].

Mary Seacole

Another important figure when it comes to nursing is Mary Seacole (née Grant) who was a British nurse and businesswoman. [8]. Seacole was born in Kingston Jamaica to a James Grant, a Scottish Lieutenant in the British Army. Her mother, nicknamed "The Doctress", was a healer who used traditional Caribbean and African herbal medicines, she also ran a boarding hall, Blundell Hall. At Blundell Hall, Seacole acquired her nursing skills, which included the use of hygiene, ventilation, warmth, hydration, rest, empathy, good nutrition and how to care for the dying. Blundell Hall also served as a convalescent home for military and naval staff recuperating from

illnesses such as cholera and yellow fever [8] Based on the West African remedies she learned from her mother Seacole began experimenting in medicine by ministering to pets before helping her mother treat humans. Due to her family's close ties with the army, she was able to observe the practices of military doctors and combined that knowledge with the knowledge acquired from her mother [9].

Seacole attempted to join the nurses in Crimea on several occurrences but was refused. Seacole questioned whether racism was a factor in her being turned down. She finally decided to use her own resources and went to the Crimean War in 1855 with the plan of setting up the "British Hotel", she opened up a restaurant/bar/catering service and also went out to the battle sites to sell food and mind the wounded soldiers [9]. Seacole's approach to health was holistic, combining traditional medicine with her knowledge of herbal remedies. She provided care that focused on the overall well-being of soldiers, including their mental and emotional health. Her establishment, the British Hotel, served as a place where soldiers could recuperate in a more homely and less clinical environment, which contributed to their overall sense of well-being.

While Seacole did not have the same focus on statistical analysis as Nightingale, she was highly effective in treating infectious diseases like cholera and dysentery, using her extensive knowledge of tropical medicine. Her hands-on approach and willingness to be on the front lines allowed her to directly address the immediate health crises faced by soldiers, thus reducing the impact of these diseases.

Both Nightingale and Seacole contributed to creating environments that promoted health and recovery, though Nightingale's methods were more systematic and datadriven, while Seacole's were more holistic and personalized. Nightingale's work laid the foundation for modern epidemiology and hospital hygiene, focusing on the systemic causes of disease. Seacole's contributions were more practical and immediate, addressing the symptoms and providing direct care. Their combined efforts highlight the importance of both preventing disease and promoting health, showcasing different but complementary approaches to nursing and healthcare.

Introduction

In the beginning of 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic hit the world hard and can be said to have been an unwelcome but natural experiment regarding the work situation within the healthcare organization. Health care organizations around the world were extremely tested and the employees paid a high price in various ways [10-13]. It is therefore important to make use of knowledge from the COVID-19 pandemic and its effects on working life, organizations and employees in order to be able to use this in the event of organizational changes and future scenarios, e.g. new pandemics. Healthcare has a shortage of employees and trained personnel, and during the pandemic the health care staff accounted for a large part of the number of sick leave cases in Sweden. Parallel to this, demographic changes are taking place in society as we have more older individuals than before who require care interventions, which means that more nurses need to be recruited. Additionally, with the increase in retirement age, people are required to continue working until they are older. A new report has shown that the working-age population in Sweden is increasing very slowly, which means further difficulties in terms of staffing [14].

Existing research often focuses on the problems, but there is a knowledge gap regarding what contributes to staff well-being in extreme work situations, such as during a pandemic when everything is pushed to the limit. It is important to find out which factors in the work environment and the work situation that relate to both physical- and mental health and illness caused by work. It is also important to make use of knowledge from the extreme strain that healthcare was exposed to during the pandemic and its effects on working life and organizations as well as on employees in different professional groups and ages, in order to be able to use this knowledge in organizational changes and future scenarios.

Background

Nurse shortage amid growing healthcare demands

The shortage of registered nurses (RNs) in Sweden is a serious and growing challenge. According to the National Board of Health and Welfare, 15 out of 21 regions report that they have a shortage of nurses, specialist nurses, radiology nurses

and other credentialed professions [15]. This shortage is expected to persist or even increase until the year 2035 [16]. Nurses are one of the largest professional groups in the Swedish labor market [17] but also account for a large part of the number of cases of work-related illness in Sweden [18-20]. Demographic changes are also taking place in society, which means that more nurses need to be recruited for care and social care when the proportion of elderly people requiring care increases in society. More nurses also need to be able and willing to work to an older age as the retirement pension is postponed due to the changing demographics [17]. There is also a shortage of trained nurses available to hire and who applies for the jobs that are vacant [17]. All too many leave the profession just a few years after graduating. Welfare's skills supply is one of this decade's most important societal challenges. Health care has a shortage of employees and trained personnel, while many leave their jobs because they don't want to or can't bear to continue working [17].

The American Nurses Foundation performed a survey with over 12 000 nurses, in that survey they identified some of the top reasons to why nurses have left or plan to leave their positions, including workplace stress, insufficient staffing, inadequate compensation, lack of trust, and inability to deliver quality care [21]. Previous studies have shown that having a lack of nurses in a hospital setting increases errors, morbidity, and mortality as well as decrease patient satisfaction [22]. When healthcare is faced with unexpected situations such as the COVID-19 pandemic, the lack of staff becomes even more apparent. Sanborn states that not having enough nurses to care for patients is a public health crisis [23].

The COVID-19 pandemic meant an extreme challenge for healthcare, and healthcare employees worldwide, not least nurses, were in a vulnerable position [24-25]. According to a study by McClellan and Chopra [26], the COVID-19 pandemic claimed over 100 000 health workers lives in its first year alone – nearly half were nurses. That nurses were at higher risk to get infected was corroborated in another study that showed that COVID-19 incidence among health workers was up to 10 times higher than in the general population [27]. Overall, in the stressful situation that prevailed during the pandemic, it is important to analyse various reasons that contribute to why some nurses leave the profession, but above all why many nurses want, and can continue to work, in other words to highlight a salutogenic perspective. Already under normal working conditions, 54% of nurses stated that their work contained many psychologically stressful circumstances [18]. In addition, 50% of nurses also indicated that they had a higher workload during the COVID-19 pandemic, which can be compared with 39% of other health and medical employees [19].

The nursing profession

Nursing has evolved over time, with the responsibilities of nurses increasing in response to the changing healthcare landscape [28]. Nursing, whilst being a rewarding occupation, is often stressful and involves substantial demands [29],

challenges including safe staff ratios, addressing burnout and moral distress [30] and in many cases also facing insufficient resources, which are risk factors for exhaustion and burnout [29]. Hence, a commitment to self-care is one way to promote the nursing staff [30]. Self-care practices can help nurses manage stress, maintain their well-being, and sustain their ability to provide high-quality care. This might include regular physical activity, adequate rest, mindfulness practices, and seeking support from colleagues and mental health professionals. By prioritizing self-care, nursing staff can better cope with the demands of their profession and continue to thrive in their roles.

RNs are the largest group of health professionals globally [28,31], accounting for approximately 59% of the health professions [31] and thus playing an essential role in the delivery of quality healthcare. RNs are an important professional group that supports much of the welfare in society, and in healthcare, nurses are the centre for nursing and patient care [32]. Nurses play a pivotal role in health promotion and in responding to society's health needs [31]. At the same time, nursing is a profession that belongs to the "contact professions", which are particularly exposed to stress in their work situation where they are the ultimate link that implements political decisions while at the same time caring for the sick and needy [32]. However, being a contact profession also has its benefits such as the opportunity to provide a sense of purpose and to be able to contribute to others' lives. Nursing can also be a source of personal identity as well as provide a sense of a complex competence [33].

One definition of the complex nursing competence is that it "integrates the art and science of caring and focuses on the protection, promotion, and optimization of health and human functioning; prevention of illness and injury; facilitation of healing; and alleviation of suffering through compassionate presence..." [34]. If we look at the quote below from Mirsch one could say that nursing is, if not art, then at least multidimensional.

"Being a nurse is admittedly no longer a calling. but there are characteristics and a view of humanity that are common to those who choose the profession. Above all, I would like to say that they are all genuinely interested in other people. The meeting with the patients, being able to help others, even save lives, or be the one who ensures that death becomes dignified, is what makes their work meaningful. in the worst moments of your life, they always do their best. Around the clock, 365 days a year"

[35, p 6].

According to the competency description for RNs in Sweden, the registered nurse must have independent nursing responsibility for good and safe care, which means being able to work proactively, risk-aware, patient-safe and comply with regulations. Safe care is one of the six core competencies and form a basis for all nursing which is ensured through the other core competencies: person-centred care, collaboration, evidence-based care, improvement knowledge for quality development and informatics [36]. All of this requires a supportive and stable work environment for nurses.

Research highlights that the work environment of nurses significantly influences the quality of nursing care [37-38]. A high-quality work environment is essential for ensuring excellent patient care [39-40]. According to Damschroder et al. [41], the work environment is the internal setting of an organization where employees operate. In a positive work environment, nurses have autonomy, control over their practices, and feel valued, respected, and safe. They also experience physical comfort, multidisciplinary collaboration, open communication, and opportunities for career advancement [42]. Furthermore, a favourable work environment is one where nurses are respected and valued for their professionalism [43]. A decent working environment is a prerequisite for patient safety and that the care maintains a good quality. One of the sub-goals of the Public Health Policies in Sweden emphasizes the importance of protecting workers' rights and promoting a safe and secure working environment for everyone [44]. Work environment is a complex area that includes both psychosocial and physical conditions in the workplace. A good work environment is the result of several factors working together, including demands, control, reward, fairness, leadership, communication, influence, social support, work-life balance and the right skills. These factors can affect health and well-being both positively and negatively [45]. Working life should be characterized by safety and security in physical, psychological and social terms [46].

Working environment conditions are particularly important for the mental health of healthcare workers [47]. A salutogenic perspective on the work environment means that the development of both individuals and organizations is linked. The type of organization affects the employees and their work [48]. According to Kanter [49], a work environment that gives employees access to information, resources, support and opportunities means that they feel empowered and in control at work. Good structural empowerment leads to organizational efficiency and people feeling secure in their work.

Nurses coping strategies and empowerment

Coping is about a sense of control and empowerment [50]. Coping involves the thoughts and behaviours that individuals use to handle both internal and external stressors [51]. Those with strong emotional coping skills can manage unpleasant situations without experiencing excessive stress. People may perceive events differently and use multiple coping strategies to address challenges [52]. These strategies include positive thinking, distraction, avoidance, denial, seeking social support, and problem-solving [53]. Coping strategies are generally categorized into two types: (1) Adaptive coping strategies, such as acceptance, and (2) maladaptive coping strategies, such as self-blame [54]. The salutogenic approach emphasizes the development and maintenance of individuals' health, highlighting how people can draw strength and energy from savouring positive life experiences [48,55].

Implementing effective coping strategies for emotional regulation can help nurses avoid the exhaustion of their emotional resources [56].

Empowerment can be seen as a framework with central concepts such as (own) power, (own) control, self-confidence, pride, participation and knowledge. Previous research has shown that structural and psychological empowerment were closely linked to nurses' work motivation and occupational mental health [57]. One central aspect of empowerment is the idea that knowledge and insight are important resources for motivation to make health-related changes [58]. Empowerment could be seen as synonymous with (positive) health. In other words, to be healthy is to be empowered, having power of the own situation, their work tasks and their close environment. Alternatively, empowerment could be seen as instrumental – that is, as a means to achieving (positive) health [59]. Empowerment and resilience are closely linked concepts that often reinforce each other. Research indicates that when individuals feel empowered, they are more likely to develop resilience because they have the confidence and resources to face challenges and bounce back from setbacks [60].

Nurses' resilience and flourishing

One definition of resilience is that it is a combination of attitudes and skills that can help people cope with their feelings and functions after a traumatic incident has impaired their ability to cope [61]. Individuals' resilience can decrease in the event of various traumas, e.g. in the event of illness and injury but also in the event of a reorganisation of work [62]. A good resilience interacts with a good sense of coherence (SOC), i.e. an experience of existence as manageable, meaningful and comprehensible. Having a good resilience aims at a good resistance and a good buffer position for impact and change, at adaptability when the system has lost its equilibrium position and at the ability to turn problems and disturbances into opportunities and innovative thinking [62]. In response to the increasing pressures facing nurses working within overstretched and under-resourced healthcare systems, building personal resilience has been identified as being essential in coping with work related stress and adversity, maintaining job satisfaction, and engaging in self-care [63].

The concept of flourishing, which can help us understand the deeper aspects of positive workplace relationships, has been explored by several authors in recent years. Initially, it focused more on individuals, describing the state achieved when one reaches the highest levels of functioning and psychosocial health [64]. Seligman (2012) also highlighted individual well-being as essential for flourishing, identifying relationships as one of the key elements. He outlined five essential elements of well-being necessary for flourishing: positive emotions, engagement, relationships, meaning in life, and accomplishment (PERMA) [65].

Work is a common daily context for many, and previous research has applied the concept of flourishing to the workplace. They found that workplace relationships

are crucial for promoting employee flourishing. These relationships foster personal growth through friendship and the opportunity to help others. Positive workplace relationships also enhance job satisfaction, feelings of meaningfulness at work, and overall life satisfaction, benefiting both individuals and organizations by fostering flourishing [66-67]. In order to create the conditions in the workplace for employees to be able to cope and handle different situations, flourish in competence and feel good at work, workplace health intervention is needed.

Workplace health promotion and prevention

Working environment and working conditions are linked to the UN Agenda 2030 and the global goals, especially goal 8 which deals with decent working conditions and economic growth. A good work environment contributes to health and wellbeing, while a poor work environment can increase the risk of ill-health. For example, high demands and low control at work can lead to an increased risk of depression [68]. The aim of the Work Environment Act (1977:1166) is to prevent ill health and accidents and to create a good working environment, which means more than a neutral working environment – it is about an environment that has positive effects on the individual. A "healthy workplace" is a workplace with a work environment that benefits both the individual and the business [45]. This perspective is supported in theories about salutogenic health-promoting work [69] and in theories about salutogenic health-promoting workplaces [70].

Workplace health intervention and prevention involves enabling individuals to manage and enhance their health at work [71]. Effective strategies for promoting health in the workplace include identifying the specific health needs and interests of employees, creating a structured plan that encompasses health-related programs, policies, and environmental changes, and encouraging physical activity by providing fitness facilities, organizing group exercise sessions, or offering incentives for staying active. Workplace health interventions can be approached from two perspectives: a salutogenic perspective, which involves identifying and strengthening aspects of the work environment that promote employee health and well-being [72-73], and a pathogenic perspective, which focuses on identifying and reducing risk factors that can cause illness and injury in the workplace [74]. The pathogenic perspective has traditionally dominated workplace health research, emphasizing work-related disease risks [75]. In contrast, the salutogenic approach emphasizes work-related health resources, regardless of potential morbidity [69-70].

Vaandrager et al. [74] define workplace health as the ability to participate and be productive in a sustainable and meaningful way. A salutogenic approach to workplace health promotion aims to create conditions that empower employees to manage their health and identify work-related health factors [76-77]. The specific resources needed can vary depending on the workplace and job tasks [72,78]. In healthcare, it is vital to identify and strengthen resources that resist stress [48,79],

enhance health [80], and address work-related "push and pull factors" [81], as well as factors that help nurses thrive professionally [82-83]. For instance, relationships among colleagues, managers, and care recipients are crucial resources in healthcare [84-86]. The salutogenic perspective focuses on health and which resources, processes and factors can strengthen and sustain health. In connection with this, Antonovsky introduced the concept of SOC. It represents the individual's resilience and coping skills, and is achieved when life is experienced as meaningful, comprehensible and manageable. Antonovsky focuses on the person's resources and claims that people who have resources and SOC as an approach are better able to deal with health-related difficulties than those who focus on illness [50]. In the salutogenic model, health is considered as a position on an ease and dis-ease continuum, instead of positioning health and disease opposite to each other, i.e. dichotomy which is mainly the feature of the pathogenic model [87].

In addition to the core concepts of SOC, it's important to consider two other key concepts: Generalized Resistance Resources (GRRs) and Specific Resistance Resources (SRRs) against stress [48, 79]. A GRR is a generality, and an SRR is a particularity or context bounded [80]. Antonovsky's theory of salutogenesis identifies various coping resources that can promote the ability to cope with stress in difficult situations. The higher the degree of resistance resources the person and the environment have and can use, the higher the SOC and the higher the degree of health the person will experience [48]. GRRs are factors like identity, money, and social support that help individuals cope with stress. Antonovsky identified these as essential for creating conditions that make life experiences consistent and understandable. These resources help individuals and groups, such as nursing teams, develop a strong SOC. Examples include material resources, knowledge, social support, and cultural stability. SRRs are context-specific resources that help individuals manage particular stressors [88].

Employees use combinations of GRRs to handle stressors. For instance, the ability to distance oneself from emotionally challenging situations is crucial in professions involving patient care. Planning breaks, managing challenges, and experiencing a supportive social climate are important for maintaining control and motivation at work. Positive work experiences, such as humour and joy, enhance employees' SOC by making stressors more manageable. Identifying and utilizing work-related SRRs can further strengthen SOC through understanding and appreciation of positive work processes. In workplace health promotion, it's important to focus on factors that contribute to employees' SOC and to address stressors positively [72]. Positive work experiences are seen as health resources that foster self-efficacy and growth. Previous studies highlight the significant impact of the workplace on employees' health and well-being [89-91]. But we cannot ignore the fact that the workplace also has straining and stressful aspects and thus the pathogenic perspective also needs to be considered in parallel with the salutogenic one. They complement each other based on the different perspectives on health. It

is therefore essential to identify both workplace problems and specific positive factors that contribute to workers' health [76, 92].

Health as a concept

The concept of health is still evolving, and which domains or important aspects are included in the concept of health is still debated. Health can be described in broad terms such as "ability to act" which I argue has a more functional approach to health, including physical, mental, emotional capability and the adequate resources to act. The term well-being is also used to describe health and is more holistic in its meaning, incorporating both the mental and physiological aspects of health as well as being more subjective [93].

In the traditional disease-oriented (pathogenic) model of health, the focus is on causes of disease. The emphasis of the pathogenic approach is on understanding the causes and consequences of disease, rather than understanding the factors that promote health and healing [48, 87]. Accordingly, the disease control strategies target these causes e.g. smoking, overweight and so on [87]. Today's perception of health is strongly influenced by medical science. Modern medicine has contributed to a more scientific and technical view of health, where the focus is on biological and physiological aspects as well as on the prevention and treatment of diseases. Good physical health is the basis for strong mental health, as body and mind are inextricably linked and positively influence each other. But despite this strong connection, many can still experience mental illness, which shows how complex and multifaceted our mental health is. Mental ill-health can be expressed in terms of not feeling well. It can be about an imbalance in existence that can express itself in feelings such as worry, anxiety, inadequacy or even feelings such as meaninglessness [94].

Health can be seen in a subjective or objective perspective. Objective health can, for example, be assessed based on blood values and physical function, while subjective health can be assessed based on how a person feels [95]. Eriksson [96] believes that the individual's subjective experience of health varies from moment to moment and that it is strongly anchored to the individual's current situation. One of the biggest watersheds regarding health seems to have been whether to include wellbeing in the concept, some like Nordenfelt [97] stated that well-being could not be included in the definition of health whilst Brülde [98] stated that it must be included. Maeland [99] states that health as well-being is close to the definition of quality of life, and health as a resource can be a prerequisite for quality of life, and vice versa. Regardless of the content one puts into the concept of health, it is decisive for how healthcare professionals relate to patients. Eriksson [100] believes that health is an overall state characterized by soundness and well-being, but not necessarily by the absence of disease. This means that well-being is central and therefore possible to achieve even in connection with illness.

Historically, health has been viewed as the opposite of disease, a perspective known as the medical model [101] or the biomedical model [102]. This view was prevalent throughout human history but faced criticism for its narrow focus, excluding mental and social aspects [101]. The social model gained prominence with the adoption of the World Health Organization's (WHO) constitution in 1948, which defined health as "a state of complete physical, mental, and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity" [103]. This broader definition integrates mental and social well-being into the concept of health. Consequently, health is no longer simply the absence of disease; rather, disease is considered one component of overall health. This also applies to the concept of illness, which refers to a person's subjective experience of disease [102]. Illness is a part of health but does not solely define it. A person can feel ill despite having a minor pathology, good mental wellbeing, and a rich social life, and thus be considered relatively healthy.

Throughout history, the concept of health has been deeply rooted in religious, philosophical and ethical ways of thinking. These perspectives have shaped how people have understood and valued health. The concept of health early on represented a general idea, formulated by Hippocrates in 400 BC, that human well-being is affected by lifestyle, climate, air quality, water and nutrient supply, and is a result of harmony between bodily conditions, environment and lifestyle [104]. Thus, if a person experience imbalance the feeling of stress most often appears.

Stress and work-related stress

In the 1950s, Hans Selye introduced the concept of 'stress' in the field of biology. Stress can be understood in various ways: as a stimulus, a response, or an interaction between an individual and their environment [105]. Numerous studies have shown that stress can negatively impact health through both direct neuroendocrine pathways and indirect pathways mediated by health behaviours. Substantial evidence indicates that stress can affect all bodily systems [106-107] and is linked to the development or worsening of a wide range of physical and mental health issues, including cardiovascular disease [108], diabetes [109], autoimmune diseases, anxiety, and depression [110]. Work-related stress, in particular, is associated with numerous health problems such as heart disease, stomach ulcers, migraines, and mental disorders. These health issues have significant repercussions on employees' organizational behaviour, as well as their personal and family lives, leading to considerable economic and social costs [111-112].

The term "stress" is commonly used in everyday language, often to describe the discomfort caused by various life situations. When people refer to stress, they typically mean the stimuli that have caused changes in their lives and triggered a stress response, although these stimuli are not always inherently negative. Stress should not be viewed solely as a negative condition that must be combated. In moderate amounts, stress can stimulate action, help focus attention and facilitate

decision-making. However, when stress persists for too long, it can lead to decreased efficiency and productivity [113-115].

It is crucial to distinguish between positive or beneficial stress (eustress) and negative or harmful stress (distress). When an individual's body mobilizes to take action, resulting in effective and rational performance, they experience eustress. This positive form of stress is characterized by high levels of motivation. With adequate social and psychological resources, a person can harness eustress, a beneficial type of psychological stress that enhances focus and boosts performance [116]. Eustress not only helps individuals tackle challenges more efficiently but also contributes to their overall well-being by fostering a sense of accomplishment and resilience. Conversely, when stress becomes excessive, it can lead to heightened emotions, disintegration of actions and behaviours, and ultimately exhaustion. In the nursing profession, stress has long been associated with various challenges such as physical labor, shift work, exposure to human suffering, interactions with other staff, and interpersonal relationships [117]. Work-related stress and other healthrelated aspects needs to be considered for nurses' working life to be sustainable.

Sustainable working life from the SwAge model

One model which is used as both a theoretical framework and as a practical tool to improve the working environment and working conditions for employees of all ages is the SwAge-model [62, 118]. The SwAge model, which stands for Sustainable Working Life for All Ages, is a theoretical model that aims to create a sustainable working life for people of all ages. The model was developed to meet the challenges that arise in working life due to the demographic change, where people live longer and thus work longer. The SwAge model operates on three levels:

1. *Individual level*: Focuses on the individual's health, motivation, and skill development throughout the entire working life.

2. Organizational level: Addresses how employers can create an inclusive and supportive work environment that considers the unique needs of employees depending on age.

3. *Societal Level*: Looks at the wider societal factors that affect working life, such as legislation, social norms, and economic conditions.

The SwAge model (Figure 1) identifies nine key areas that are crucial for a sustainable working life for people of all ages. These areas are linked to four main aspects of employability, which include the ability and willingness to participate in the workforce. The four aspects (spheres) and nine key areas (determinant areas) are (Table 1):



Figure 1. The SwAge-model that shows the four spheres and nine impact areas for a sustainable working life [62, 118].

Area	Meaning	Sphere	
1.Self-rated health	Includes diagnoses, self-rated health and various physical and mental health functions at work.	Health Effects of the Work Environment: Adequate health is essential for employability and inclusion in the workforce. Work life impacts biological aging,	
2.Physical work environment	Involves repetitive movements, heavy lifting, accident risks, climate, chemical exposure, and contagion risks.		
3.Mental work environment	Covers stress, balance of mental demands and own control over the work situation and threats-, and violence at work.	mental and physical health, and the need for recovery due to physical and mental stresses, but it also has strengthening effects	
4.Working hours, pace and recuperation	Considers the possibility of recuperation during and between work shifts.		
5.Personal financial situation	Affects individuals' needs and willingness to work. Financial incentives are managed by society through systems like social insurance.	Personal finance: Health issues, lack of skills, and insufficient support can lead to exclusion from the workforce and a poorer financial situation, such as through sick leave, unemployment, and early retirement, especially during tough times. The organizations and workplace finances determine the tools and techniques available to create a more sustainable work environment, enhancing long- term employability.	
6.Personal social environment	Includes family, friends, and leisure activities.	Relations and social support: Every individual has and need	
7.Social work environment	Involves leadership, discrimination, and the significance of the employment relationship context for individuals' work.	relations. Employees have a personal life and a work social environment. Leadership, workplace norms, social support, inclusion in the social group, as well as neglect, bullying and discrimination are aspects that can influence individuals opportunities and willingness to work.	
8.Motivation and satisfaction:	Relates to individual and instrumental support, including motivation, appreciation, satisfaction, and stimulation in work tasks.	Execution of work tasks: Effective task execution relies on both individual and instrumental support. Strong	
9.Knowledge and competence:	Emphasizes the importance of competence development for the individual's work.	individual support makes people feel valued and capable, enhancing their performance. Instrumental support provides the necessary resources for efficient activity completion. Together, these supports improve performance and satisfaction.	

Table 1. Influencing and determining factors for a healthy and sustainable working life

Rationale

The findings of this thesis aim to enhance our understanding of what enables a healthy, prolonged, and sustainable working life for nurses in the healthcare sector. By addressing the challenges and work environment issues highlighted by the COVID-19 pandemic, we can improve conditions for nurses. This proactive approach will better prepare us for future pandemics or significant changes, ensuring a more resilient and adaptable healthcare workforce.

Aim

The overall aim of this doctoral project was to explore nurses' work situation and health before, during and after the COVID-19 pandemic, with a special focus on work-related mental health.

The specific aims were:

- 1. To identify and analyze the state of knowledge regarding nurses' work situation, health, and person-centred work during the COVID-19 pandemic through a systematical review. The aim was also to identify any knowledge gap regarding the nurse's work situation with importance to their own health and to better person-centred health and medical care.
- II. To investigate the association between work-related mental-health diagnoses and different factors in nurses' work situations before and during the COVID-19 pandemic.
- III. To investigate predictors of work-related mental health problems in nurses' work situations through paired follow-up with nurses who had developed work-related mental health problems between 2017 and fall/winter 2020.
- IV. To explore factors and processes that affected health and work experiences among nurses in Sweden during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Methods

Study design and overview

This thesis has followed an explanatory sequential design of mixed method where the initial study (I) was the base of the project, the emphasis was on the quantitative phase (study II and III) which was then followed by the qualitative phase (study IV) [119]. The findings from the quantitative studies were instrumental in shaping the questions included in the interview guide for the qualitative study. This approach was adopted to provide a comprehensive explanation and to gain a deeper understanding of the quantitative findings. By integrating insights from the quantitative data, the qualitative interviews were designed to explore underlying factors, contextual nuances, and nurses' experiences that could not be captured through quantitative methods alone. This methodological synergy ensured a more holistic analysis, allowing for richer, more detailed interpretations of the data. The timeline of the project is illustrated in figure 2.



Figure 2. Timeline of the datacollection, and progress of the studies in this thesis

The research comprised four studies: two were quantitative and longitudinal, while the other two were qualitative. The initial phase involved collecting qualitative data to gain a foundational understanding of the research area. This was achieved through a qualitative systematic review, where findings from various studies were synthesized to interpret and integrate themes, concepts, and insights, providing a deeper understanding of the phenomenon under investigation (Study I). Following
this, quantitative data were extracted from previously collected surveys from a cohort of nurses to examine relationships and causal effects (Studies II and III). This approach allowed for the identification of patterns and trends over time, contributing to a robust analysis of the data. In the final study (Study IV), the aim was to further explore and understand the nurses' experiences through a interview study. This method provided rich, detailed insights into nurses' personal and professional lives, complementing the quantitative findings and offering a comprehensive view of the research topic (Table 2).

Study I.	
Aim	To identify and analyze the state of knowledge regarding nurses' work situation, health, and person-centred work during the COVID-19 pandemic through a systematically review. The aim was also to identify any knowledge gap regarding the nurse's work situation with importance to their own health and to better person-centred health and medical care.
Study design	Qualitative design. Systematic literature review.
Data collection	Literature review
n	15 articles
Analysis	Systematic literature review with meta-syntesis
Study II.	
Aim	To investigate the association between workrelated mental-health diagnoses and different factors in nurses' work situations before and during the COVID- 19 pandemic.
Study design	Quantitative design. Longitudinal study, 2017 and 2020.
Data collection	Questionnaire
n	4692 informants (2017), 3107 informants (2020)
Analysis	Logistic regression analysis, MANOVA.
Study III.	
Aim	To investigate predictors of work-related mental health problems in nurses' work situations through paired follow-up with nurses who had developed work-related mental health problems between 2017 and fall/winter 2020
Study design	Quantitative design. Longitudinal study, 2017 and 2020.
Data collection	Questionnaire
n	143 informants
Analysis	Logistic regression analysis
Study IV.	
Aim	To identify the salutogenic and pathogenic factors that influence nurses' health and work situation related to the COVID-19 pandemic in Sweden.
Study design	Qualitative design.
Data collection	Semi-structured interviews.
n	14 informants
Analysis	Deductive content analysis

Context

Like many other countries, Sweden faced significant challenges due to the COVID-19 pandemic. However, unlike most nations that implemented strict lockdowns, Sweden opted for a different approach. The Swedish government chose to rely on voluntary measures rather than enforcing a full lockdown. This strategy aimed to balance public health concerns with the preservation of personal freedoms, allowing Swedish citizens to maintain a degree of normalcy and autonomy during the pandemic [120]. This unique approach sparked considerable debate and analysis, both within Sweden and internationally, regarding its effectiveness and impact on public health and society. In retrospect, we can observe that despite the high death rates during the spring of 2020, the overall excess mortality in Sweden for the years 2020-2021 was lower than in many other European countries [120].

Pre-collected data: sample, procedure, and data collection

This PhD project was a part of a bigger ongoing research project, "Sustainable working life for all ages" and through this project the survey data was obtained for the second and third study. The cohort for the second and third study were nurses that were employed in the Region of Skane in 2017 and 2020 (total selection), the majority of informants in study **II** and **III** were women, and the median age was 48 (2017) and 52 (2020). A majority (73.3%) of the informants (nurses) in 2020¹ worked in hospitals, 14.1 % worked in primary care, 6.2 % worked in psychiatry and habilitation and 6.4 % worked in other areas (such as ambulance services, advanced healthcare in the home or 1177 helpline).

Qualitative studies

Study I and IV: Sample and data collection

In the first study (I) a systematic literature review was conducted to identify knowledge gaps. Through searches in four databases, 15 articles that matched the inclusion criteria was found. The articles included research from Sweden, the US, Greece, Japan, South Korea, Turkey, Italy, Spain, Brazil, India and the Netherlands. In the fourth (IV) study semi-structured in-depth interviews with nurses from southern and central Sweden that worked in hospital and pre-hospital settings, who came into contact with patients who had COVID-19 were conducted. Snowball sampling was used to get variations of the informants' experiences and background.

¹ This data was not obtained in the 2017 questionnaire.

The informants worked in ambulances, in emergency departments, in infection wards, in intensive care units or in specialized COVID wards. Half of the informants had a diploma in nursing in their specialty.

Literature review (study I)

In the beginning of the project, the research team sat down and formulated the research question and which inclusion and exclusion criteria for the articles that were eligible for the study (I). To optimize the search field, four databases was selected for the literature search. The method employed in this investigation was a systematic literature review, conducted in several steps following the guidelines outlined in the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews [121]. The PRISMA guidelines [122] were adhered to as well as the five steps for conducting a systematic review as described by Khan et al. [123]. The literature searches were carried out by researchers Nagel and Nilsson in the following electronic databases: CINAHL, PubMed, Medline, and Scopus. Relevant articles were identified through a multistep process. Initially, each database was searched using five key terms: personcentred, work environment, organisation (or organization to include both British and American spellings), nurse, and COVID-19. These keywords were combined using Boolean operators (i.e., AND, OR). During the search, it was discovered that combining all the keywords with "person-centred" yielded no findings, which led to the exclusion of this particular keyword from the search.

Interview guide (study **IV**)

The interview guide was based on the SwAge model [118] consisting of nine determinant spheres of a sustainable working life for all ages, SOC [50] as well as based on the findings from studies **I-III**. The interview guide was discussed by the authors and agreed upon. Before my halftime assessment I conducted three pilot-interviews in order to be able to discuss this study with the halftime assessors. Based on the discussion with them and then later on my supervisors, small adjustments were made to the interview guide e.g. starting with the question "What were your feelings when you first heard of the COVID-19 pandemic?".

Procedure

The data collection for the literature review (study **I**) was carried out from November 2021-beginning of February 2022. The systematic review was performed in accordance with the literature review guidelines in the Cochrane Handbook for systematic reviews [121] and the PRISMA guidelines [122].

The semi-structured interviews (study IV) took part in May-June and from October to November 2023 and were performed by me. According to Polit and Beck [124] interviews are the main data collection method that is used in qualitative research. A semi-structured interview guide (appendix 1) was used in each interview. The interviews were conducted at a place chosen by each of the informants. A majority of the interviews were performed in a room adjacent to the informant's place of work. Two interviews were conducted in a secluded room at a coffee shop and a few of the interviews took place in a separate room in a nearby library. Prior to the commencement of the interviews, the informants were reminded that participation in the study was voluntary and informed that the authors would adhere to the rules of GDPR [125]. When the informants stated that they felt that they had been given proper information they signed an informed consent.

The interviews started with questions about the informants' background before they were asked to describe their initial thoughts and feelings when hearing about the COVID-19 pandemic. Follow-up questions were then asked depending on what the informant discussed, and the interview guide was used as a checklist to ensure that we covered all the interesting areas of the study. All interviews ended with the question: Is there something that we have not discussed that you would like to address? This gave the informants a chance to talk freely. The time for each interview differed between 64 and 119 minutes.

Quantitative studies

Study II and III: Sample and data collection

Data used in study II and III was pre-collected data, see description under heading "Sample, procedure, and data collection pre-collected data" above.

Questionnaires

A link to a web survey was sent out via work e-mail to all employees in the Healthcare sector in the Swedish region of Skane. The questionnaires were designed by Professor K.N and based on the SwAge model, her previous research [126-128] and the Demand-Control questions by Karasek and Theorell [129]. The questionnaire has been used and validated in other surveys [130-131]. The questionnaire is extensive and touches on, among other things, the willingness and possibility of the staff to work to an older age, their self-rated health, whether they felt they had suffered any illness or injury caused by work. In total the 2017 questionnaire contained 158 questions, and the 2020 questionnaire contained additional COVID-specific questions (n=41). The data for 2017 was collected between March and April, and the data for 2020 was collected between early September to mid-December. In study **II** and **III** the focus was on the nurses that replied to the questionnaires.

Procedure

In early 2022, I was given access to some of professor Nilssons data from the greater research study in order to be able to decide which data to focus on in the second and third study. Although most reported injuries/illnesses were musculoskeletal, the choice fell on the mental health aspect of the data (i.e. ICD-10 codes: depression, anxiety, stress and exhaustion). In total, 24 statements were chosen from the original data. The nurses filled out whether they had a self-reported diagnosis that they attributed to their work situation. Another option could have been to use register data; however, it is known that the data regarding work-related injuries/diseases are underreported. Singh-Manoux et al [132] states that self-rated health can be a better predictor of mortality than diagnosed disease.

Analysis

Qualitative analysis

Study I

In study **I**, the objective was to integrate and interpret data from the 15 included studies to gain a deeper understanding of the research. To achieve this, a systematic literature review with meta-synthesis was conducted. The review process followed several steps as outlined in the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews [121]. Additionally, the PRISMA guidelines [122] and the five steps for conducting a systematic review described by Khan et al. [123] were adhered to.

The first step involved framing the questions for the review, followed by identifying relevant articles. A list of criteria (inclusion and exclusion) was established to enhance validity and limit the search to the most pertinent articles for this investigation. The included articles were initially thoroughly assessed for quality by researchers C.N and K.N, and then individually analysed through deductive content analysis inspired by Lindgren et al. [133]. Subsequently, all authors compared and discussed the findings to sort the collected data into the predefined categories (the nine determinant areas of the SwAge-model).

Study IV

In study **IV**, all interviews were transcribed verbatim and was pseudonymised by me. Each interview was given a random number between 1 and 14. The transcripts were initially read several times by all authors to get a deeper understanding and a full picture of the informants' opinions. Two of the project members approached the analysis from a deductive point of view while the other three looked at the inductive perspective. The analysis was inspired by Elo and Kyngäs [134]. From the text, meaning units were condensed into codes such as workload and support, the codes

that belonged together were compiled by all authors in groups and these were coordinated in pre-determined themes and subthemes (i.e. the nine determinant areas of the SwAge model). The transcripts were read a final time to ensure that all the relevant material was covered in the subthemes and themes. Since the interviews garnered rich data, it was decided to take a part of the data (regarding nurses' thoughts on and opportunity to use person-centredness during the pandemic) and make a separate study with that material (hence it is not included in this thesis).

Quantitative analysis

Study II and III

In both study **II** and study **III**, logistic regression was employed to analyse the data. Additionally, in study **II**, a Multivariate Analysis of Variance (MANOVA) was also utilized to determine whether the observed mean differences among groups (i.e., between 2017 and 2020) across multiple dependent variables were statistically significant or likely to have occurred by chance. All statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS software.

Logistic regression is a powerful statistical method used to model the relationship between a binary dependent variable and one or more independent variables. It helps in understanding the impact of various predictors on the likelihood of a particular outcome. MANOVA, on the other hand, is an extension of ANOVA that allows for the simultaneous analysis of multiple dependent variables. This method is particularly useful when researchers are interested in examining the effect of independent variables on a set of related dependent variables, providing a more comprehensive understanding of the data. By employing these statistical techniques, the studies aimed to rigorously evaluate the data and draw meaningful conclusions about the relationships and differences observed in the research.

Ethical considerations

All studies were performed in accordance with Swedish laws [135] and approved by the Swedish Ethical Review Agency (number 2016/867 and 2020-01897). Rules for the handling and storage of data was and will be followed in accordance with university policies as well as guidelines for handling sensitive data according to GDPR [125]. All studies in this thesis were also performed in accordance with the Helsinki declaration [136]. One of the most fundamental principles in the declaration is that the care of the individual should be at the centre, that is to say come before the interests of both science and society. The ethical guidelines include that the researcher must have obtained informed and voluntary consent to partake in the study (**IV**) from the informant. It is therefore important for the researcher to make sure that the informants understand the purpose, risks and benefits of the research.

In regard to the studies and informed consent one can argue that even though the informants for the studies where we used the data from the questionnaires (Study II and III) did not sign an informed consent, they did consent to the study and therefore to us using the data by answering the questionnaires. Both in the information letter and in the survey, it was made clear that they approved participation by answering the survey. In the interview study (Study IV) both written and oral information were given to the informants before the interviews took place and they also signed an informed consent form. The informants were also informed several times before the interview that they had the right to withdraw from the study at any time without having to give a reason. The informants have a right to privacy and confidentiality, in study II and III their personal information is protected through several steps. A project-specific running number was created for each individual. Code keys for email addresses and social security numbers have and will be kept separate from the coded material. The code key to the project-specific running number, social security number and e-mail addresses are stored on a separate encrypted hard drive and kept in a locked security cabinet in a room located in a locked corridor at Lund University. There has been no direct contact between the researchers and informants in study **II** and **III**. The web survey responses submitted by the informants were automatically compiled via the web survey tool SunetSurvey into a database in Excel. In the database, only the project-specific serial number is visible together with the survey responses. In regard to the interview study (Study IV) only I know the identity of the informants, the other authors of that study were given general characteristics (i.e. gender, age, civil status, years in the profession etc.).

In all the studies, the harm to informants was minimized and this was especially important in the interview study (Study IV) where questions of a sensitive nature were asked. The informants were informed before the interviews took place that if they felt uncomfortable answering the questions they could relay that to the interviewer and that question would be left out, none of the informants chose to opt out of answering any of the questions. Benefits were weighed versus harm, and it was concluded that the benefits (the knowledge) this study would generate was considered to outweigh the potential risks that the study could bring. For the interviews it was also important to let the informants choose the venue for the interview so that they would feel comfortable, this was also a way to respect their autonomy.

All informants were treated equal with respect and fairness regardless of gender, age or other factors. Initially there were discussions in the research group whether the first author should perform the interviews with one of the supervisors in attendance, due to that the informant had ended up in a power disadvantage with two against one, it was decided that only the first author performed the interviews (Study **IV**).

In the interview study (Study IV) there was a potential of role conflict as well as difficulties in maintaining a professional distance as the person conducting the interviews had the same occupation (i.e. nurse) as the informants. It was therefore important to maintain objectivity, consequently the interviewer asked follow-up questions and questions to clarify the informants' answers when they used specific terms and expressions that could be subject for interpretations.

One aspect that one may not often think about is what ethical benefits one can see in the studies. In what way do the experiences of the informants (surveys/interviews) affect themselves, but also others? After I had completed the interviews (Study IV), some of the informants have emailed me and said that with the interviews they have been able to process some of what they have been through. Maybe then others can be helped by reading about this and feel that they were not alone in feeling a certain way.

Preunderstanding

The fact that I am a nurse cannot be ignored, so therefore this must be taken up with forethought. I have experience from having worked clinically as a nurse, both in Sweden and other parts of the world, in everything from municipal care to being active in my specialist area of Anaesthesia Nursing. I have worked clinically during epidemics such as the swine flu and SARS but also during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Before conducting the interviews for study **IV**, I chose to be interviewed by one of the co-authors, partly to test the questions (whereby we made some adjustments) but above all to make my own thoughts and opinions visible. My understanding is that the nurses who were interviewed felt that they could relax when I told them that

I was a nurse and that I myself had worked clinically during the pandemic. However, I was very conscious of not letting my own experiences control the questions that were asked (i.e. leading questions) and that I asked questions when they expressed words where I could understand the meaning but where I wanted to make it clear that it was their experiences and not my interpretation of it. The following questions, based on an article by Palmér et al [137], were reflected on during the transcription and analysis phases:

- 1. Does my interview technique include many leading questions? Am I influencing the interviewee's answers in any other way?
- 2. Have I asked follow-up questions that do not align with the research phenomenon because I misunderstood the informant's description?
- 3. Have we added or omitted anything during the analysis process? If so, how have our prior understanding influenced this?

During the doctoral studies, discussions took place continuously with my supervisors to ensure that the boundary between researcher and nurse was maintained.

Findings

The aim of this thesis was to explore nurses' work situation and health before, during and after the COVID-19 pandemic. The findings show that many nurses were reassigned to different roles, often against their will. They experienced a lack of control over their schedules, frequent last-minute changes, and increased working hours, which led to stress. Despite feeling tired and stressed, nurses were driven by a strong sense of duty to care for their patients and help their colleagues. The shortage of staff and personal protective equipment (PPE) impeded their ability to provide care, raising ethical concerns and causing moral distress. Nurses reported physical symptoms and long-term emotional effects, with a notable rise in workrelated mental health issues. Most nurses had insufficient time to recuperate between shifts, although some managed to take breaks and rest outside of work. They felt frustrated with the public for not following guidelines and perceived dishonesty from management regarding the durability of PPE. Organizations responded effectively by developing crisis response policies and improving patient flow.

Despite all demanding issues there were also positive work experiences perceived, for instance teamwork improved, and nurses received strong support from their co-workers and some managers. Nurses experienced professional growth and found satisfaction in being needed and making a difference. They turned challenges into opportunities, showcasing resilience and innovative problemsolving. However, despite these strengths, pathogenic factors in healthcare presented significant challenges and consequences for nurses' health.

Pathogenic factors in healthcare: Challenges and consequences for nurses' health

Not having control

The findings from study **II** and **III** show that 9.75% of the informants were given other or additional tasks or given another work role during the COVID-19 pandemic and that 8.4% of the informants were transferred to another department, another clinic or another hospital (in another city), however not everyone that was re-

allocated did so voluntarily. The findings from Study **II** revealed that the informants expressed a desire for increased control over their work. This was also supported by the findings from the qualitative studies (Study **I** and **IV**), where the informants described that they experienced a loss of control in that they could not influence their schedule, that there were many schedule changes at short notice which was especially difficult for single parents, and that they had to go in and work shifts they normally did not work. Some informants also described that they had to increase their working hours in order for the organization to function. Having little or no input on their working conditions was a potential cause of stress.

Stress of conscience

The findings from the interview study (Study IV) showed that nurses believed that they had a duty to care, and that it was this sense of duty towards patients and colleagues that motivated them to work despite feeling tired and stressed. The findings show that nurses had increased workload, lack of staff and personal protective equipment, all of which are factors that took time away from the patients' bedside thus potentially hindering nurses' duty to care.

Furthermore, the findings from study I and IV show that during the COVID-19 pandemic, healthcare workers frequently faced ethical concerns, feelings of inadequacy regarding their work and the reduced quality of care they could provide. The informants also had to perform their work despite a lack of resources such as time and materials. Some informants (study I and IV) reported that the responsibility of monitoring visitors' temperatures and COVID-19 symptoms, along with enforcing mask regulations, made them feel as though they were acting as police officers. This added layer of duty not only increased their workload but also created a sense of authority that was outside their usual professional role, contributing to their overall stress and fatigue. They also encountered unethical situations such as feeling like they worked at an assembly line when all patients received the same treatments or felt like they participated in aggressive or unnecessary treatments. Informants in study I and IV stated that they felt insufficiently involved in decision-making processes and often felt uninformed. This was also described in Study II where the informants felt that they had not received enough information and lacked the knowledge to feel safe performing their work tasks during the pandemic. These factors contributed to a higher occurrence of moral distress. In addition to the lack of information and knowledge, the informants also faced significant physical and psychological demands in their work.

Experience of ill-health and lack of recuperation

The findings from Study **II** revealed that the informants struggled to meet the physical demands of their work. They reported that their tasks often accumulated,

leading to significant frustration. Moreover, the work was characterized by numerous physically and psychologically challenging tasks, which left them with insufficient time to complete their responsibilities effectively. This highlights the need for better workload management and support systems to help employees cope with their demanding roles. Informants in both study I and IV highlighted that there were issues with their work environment in regard to having a lack of proper workplaces which made social distancing difficult, there was a lack of adequate isolation wards and having to redesign work areas led to spaces having insufficient ventilation. Informants in study IV described that they had to work outside during the pandemic to triage patients coming into the hospital, informants that worked in the ambulance services stated that they had to offload patients outside of the hospital which led to them having to push gurneys across various surfaces, not to mention exposing the patients to the elements and lack of privacy. The informants in study I and IV reported that working during the pandemic often resulted in experiencing various physical and mental symptoms and that the unique challenges and stressors of the pandemic environment significantly impacted their physical and mental wellbeing. While some symptoms were physical such as migraines, muscle aches, skin irritation and having physical symptoms from wearing the masks, the most longterm pathogenic effects concern the emotional aspects such as anxiety, exhaustion, depression and above all stress. The findings from study **II** shows that there was an increasing trend in (self-reported) work-related mental health diagnoses from 2017 to 2020, this was also corroborated in study IV where a majority of informants described having had work-related mental health problems during and/or after the COVID-19 pandemic. In study I the findings showed that nurses that had a higher age showed elevated risk of emotional exhaustion. The findings from study II showed that those who stated that they had work-related mental health problems had a mean age of 50 (2017). What could be discerned throughout the studies is the global lack of personal protective equipment and suitable workspaces which endangered the informants' health.

The studies clearly indicated that the majority of informants struggled with insufficient recuperation time, both during their shifts and between them. The findings from Studies II and III revealed that some informants felt their work pace was excessively high and that they did not receive adequate rest between shifts. Additionally, Study II indicated that the informants' work conditions negatively affected their personal lives, this was also described in study IV. Furthermore, many informants (study I and IV) reported experiencing sleeping problems, which began during the COVID-19 pandemic and persisted for some even afterwards. However, there were some exceptions; a few informants reported being able to take breaks during workhours and did not encounter issues with getting enough rest outside of work. The informants suggested that part of the reason for this was that their breakroom was outside the ward, which made it easier to take breaks. In addition, some mentioned that their experience in the profession helped them to relax despite

the challenging working conditions. Despite these positive exceptions, many informants still faced significant challenges in their daily work.

Feeling exasperated and dissatisfied

The findings from study **II** indicated that some informants did not find satisfaction in their daily work. Similarly, study **III** revealed that informants felt their work lacked meaning. Both study **II** and **III** highlighted a pervasive lack of joy in daily tasks. Informants in both study II and III expressed that their skills and competencies were not being utilized effectively. They felt that their potential was underappreciated and underused, leading to a sense of frustration and dissatisfaction. The findings from study I and IV show that the informants perceived frustration due to working with inexperienced colleagues, they were thankful that healthcare staff from other clinics were trying to alleviate their work. However, in many cases it had the opposite effect since the informants stated that they had to keep monitoring their colleagues and answering their questions, causing them to lose focus and time of their own work. Feeling exasperated with the general public for not adhering to recommended guidelines was another concern (study I & IV), which in turn could cause stress. The informants also described feeling discontent with management and organizations, not only due to the lack of PPE but also because of perceived dishonesty about the durability of protective equipment, which was known to last only a certain number of hours. The findings from study I showed that the informants felt that there were pressures to reduce costs and that the budget was more important than increasing the staff to help ease the workload. Additionally, the findings (study I and IV) showed that the informants felt unappreciated and unsupported, with management often being absent on the floor and not offering necessary support, this was also a source to frustration. Even though a lot of frustration was perceived during this time, there was also a growing sense of power and manageability (study IV). This transformation highlights the journey from stress to strength. By focusing on the positive aspects and harnessing inner strengths, individuals were able to turn adversity into an opportunity for growth and resilience. This shift not only improved their ability to manage the situation but also reinforced the importance of a salutogenic approach in fostering overall well-being.

From stress to strength: Salutogenic superpowers!

Organizational response

Although the COVID-19 pandemic took its toll on the organizations, the staff and the patients, there were not only negative consequences. The findings from study I-

IV, show salutogenic aspects on both the organizational level and especially on the individual level. On the organizational level, findings from both study **I** and **IV** showed that the organizations in question were effective in developing crisis response policies and providing communication updates. There was a better patient flow from the emergency department to other clinical areas, mostly to the infection clinics and wards or specialized COVID-wards. On the individual level the findings showed that teamwork improved, and that nurses' time was freed up by doctors calling the relatives of their patients in order to provide them with daily updates and thus nurses had extra time to be bedside. The findings from Studies **II** and **III** suggest that support from managers, and particularly from co-workers, was insufficient. However, the findings from Study **I** indicated that informants experienced good support from their colleagues but felt a lack of support from managers. In Study **IV**, all informants reported receiving good support from their co-workers, and in some cases, from their immediate managers.

Experiencing satisfaction and flourishing

The findings from study IV showed that some informants did not feel that the pandemic affected their health or well-being. That they could carry on with their lives in pretty much the same way as before. The findings from study I revealed that informants received support from both family and friends, which strengthened their resilience and helped alleviate stress. Another positive effect was professional growth which was described in both study I and IV, where the informants' competence grew by watching more experienced colleagues or simply by trial-anderror. The informants also described experiences of satisfaction from being needed and feeling that what they did made a difference such as being at the forefront of patient care, providing essential medical attention to those affected by COVID-19. Beyond physical care, nurses provided emotional support to patients and their families. They acted as a comforting presence, offering reassurance and empathy during a time of great uncertainty and fear. There was also satisfaction in seeing themselves or others flourish. Witnessing COVID-19 patients recover and leave the ward brought a sense of satisfaction and renewed hope (study I and IV). This positive outcome not only uplifted the spirits of the informants but also reinforced their commitment and resilience in the face of the pandemic's challenges. The crisis fostered a strong sense of solidarity and teamwork, with some informants describing an 'all hands on deck' mentality (study IV). The informants derived satisfaction from knowing their work had a meaningful impact. The recognition of their critical role in the healthcare system and the gratitude from patients and communities reinforced their sense of purpose. Despite the challenges, many informants demonstrated remarkable resilience. They found strength in their ability to adapt, innovate, and continue providing care under extreme conditions.

Discussion

It was interesting that Mirsch [35] stated that being a nurse no longer was a calling. In Sweden, applications to nursing schools increased in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic so perhaps there was a calling after all or perhaps the cause of this was that the general public understood the importance of nurses and the work they do. In no way is there a wish in this thesis to detract from the important efforts made daily by other health professionals, it is a team effort. However, this thesis is focused on nurses' health and their working situation, especially in relation to an extremely demanding situation.

Loss of control and identity

The findings (study I and IV) indicated that many informants felt a significant loss of control over rostering and not feeling like they were able to provide input into decision making. This was also seen in other studies [138-139]. This loss of control can be seen as a lack of empowerment due to their inability to influence their own circumstances. Having more control over their tasks and responsibilities could most likely enhance their job satisfaction and overall productivity. This sentiment underscores the importance of empowering employees by providing them with the freedom to make decisions and manage their work processes independently. The pandemic undermined one of the General Resistance Resources - maintaining a strong sense of identity. Some informants (study I and IV) expressed that they felt like novices again, unable to mentor others effectively because the challenges posed by COVID-19 were new to them as well and thus in some ways making them loose part of their professional identity. Some of the informants (study II-IV) who expressed feeling more affected by the pandemic were of a higher age. Contrary to this observation previous research indicated that the ability to deal with problems generally increases with age [140]. However, it is important to note that psychological resilience, which is crucial for coping with job challenges such as stress, adversity, and trauma, is not solely dependent on age. Regardless of one's age, the key factor is the ability to adapt when facing these challenges [141-143]. This adaptability is what ultimately determines an individual's psychological resilience.

Nurses are leaving their workplaces, one third of the informants in our study (study IV) had changed their workplace after the pandemic. The informants in this

cohort acknowledged that it was good to have an influx of staff from other wards and even other regions to ease the workload, but it is important that nurses who work in extreme situations, such as a pandemic, do so of their own free will. That is, giving them back a sense of control and giving them a chance to feel empowered.

Balancing Duty and Safety

As noted in the findings from study IV, some nurses continued to work during the COVID-19 pandemic despite not feeling well themselves. Nurses have a duty of care, which encompasses their ethical, legal, and professional responsibilities to deliver safe, competent, compassionate, and ethical care to patients. McClelland and Chopra [144] highlighted that nurses are expected to be altruistic and risk their own lives to care for patients. However, it is vital to balance patient care with the safety of nurses. This balance involves managing the professional responsibilities of nurses alongside the physical, emotional, and moral risks they face. During pandemics or other crises, this duty becomes particularly challenging, as nurses often work under extreme conditions with high workloads and significant risks to their health. Several countries, including Japan, Canada, Australia, the U.K., and Sweden, have incorporated the duty of self-care into their nursing codes of ethics [145]. When individuals fail to balance their work duties with self-care, several negative consequences can occur. Prolonged stress and overwork may lead to burnout, which is marked by emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, and a diminished sense of personal achievement. Chronic stress and neglecting self-care can cause physical health issues, including cardiovascular diseases, musculoskeletal disorders, and weakened immune systems. The high demands and stressful conditions of nurses work can also result in anxiety, depression, and other mental health problems [146]. Overworked and stressed may cause nurses to struggle to provide high-quality care, result in errors and decreased patient satisfaction [147]. Additionally, poor worklife balance can result in job dissatisfaction and higher turnover rates, further straining healthcare systems. On the other hand, a recent study conducted in the United States [139] revealed that during the COVID-19 pandemic, nurses' committed support of each other and their patients led to eustress. The pandemic underscored the critical role nurses play in healthcare, amplifying their commitment to providing care and support despite the challenging circumstances.

Safeguarding nurses' health

The findings from study **I** and **IV** indicate that some informants experienced significant sleep disturbances, including difficulty falling asleep and frequent awakenings throughout the night. This was also found in another study [138] These sleep problems are not only risk factors for psychiatric, cardiovascular, and metabolic disorders [148], but they also have critical implications for infection

control. Sleep disturbances are linked to a weakened immune response, making individuals more susceptible to respiratory infections [149]. This decreased immunity can hinder the body's ability to fight off infections, underscoring the importance of addressing sleep issues among healthcare workers, especially during a pandemic. Ensuring that nurses have sufficient time and opportunities to recuperate both during and between shifts is crucial for maintaining their health and well-being. A well-rested and well-supported nursing staff is essential for patient safety. The findings from study **I-IV** indicated that many informants did not receive adequate rest during work hours or between shifts. Similar results were noted in another study [138]. According to Steinwedel [150], nurses who are fatigued, stressed, and unable to concentrate may not provide safe care. A recent study [151] showed that physical problems such as fatigue can reduce the resilience of nurses. During the pandemic many nurses experienced high workloads and a high nurse-patient ratio and thus potentially leading to feelings of stress and fatigue.

According to the International Council of Nurses (ICN) code of ethics (§ 2:4), it is imperative that nurses prioritize their own integrity, health, and well-being [152]. Achieving this requires a workplace culture that emphasizes professional affirmation, continuous education, opportunities for reflection and support, adequate resource allocation, supportive management structures, and a healthy and safe work environment. However, the findings from studies I-IV indicate that these essential conditions have not been met during the COVID-19 pandemic. The informants reported a lack of professional affirmation and support, which has been exacerbated by inadequate resources and insufficient management structures. The high demands and stressful conditions of the pandemic have further strained the work environment, making it difficult for nurses to maintain their health and wellbeing. This shortfall highlights the urgent need for healthcare organizations to reassess and improve their workplace cultures. Ensuring that nurses have access to ongoing education and professional development is crucial for their growth and competence [153]. Additionally, creating a supportive environment where nurses can reflect on their experiences and receive emotional and psychological support is vital for their mental health. While mental health interventions for nurses are crucial, it is equally important to implement organizational strategies such as reevaluating emergency action plans to optimize resource allocation [139]. Having adequate resource allocation might prevent burnout and ensure that nurses can perform their duties effectively without compromising their own health. Care management should establish specific structures and working conditions that support nurses, such as offering flexible scheduling, providing opportunities for professional growth, and fostering supportive team environments [154]. Furthermore, maintaining a healthy and safe work environment is fundamental to protecting nurses from physical and psychological harm as well as a mean to retain staff [155]. By addressing these areas, healthcare organizations can better support their nursing staff, ensuring they are equipped to handle the challenges of their profession while maintaining their own well-being. This not only benefits the nurses but also enhances the overall quality of patient care.

The impact of COVID-19 on nurses' stress

It is unequivocal that nurses experienced elevated levels of stress before, during, and after the COVID-19 pandemic. This is consistently supported by the research performed for this thesis (study **I-IV**) and numerous other studies [156-157]. The COVID-19 pandemic is not the first major incident to cause significant stress among nurses. Previous research has shown that nurses experienced high levels of work-related stress during the SARS [158] outbreak in 2003 and the H1N1 [159-160] pandemic in 2009. But despite being trained to handle crises and manage high stress levels [161], the COVID-19 pandemic presented unprecedented challenges for healthcare workers. They faced unique concerns about having adequate PPE, the risk of contracting and spreading the virus, and the overwhelming workload [162].

Inadequate staffing has been identified as a significant concern across multiple studies (I-IV). Previous research indicates that external pressures, such as insufficient staffing levels, can lead to perceived distress among healthcare professionals. This distress often manifests as anger, resentment, and feelings of guilt [139]. These emotional responses not only impact the well-being of the staff but also affect their ability to provide quality care. Addressing staffing issues is therefore crucial in mitigating these negative emotions and improving both staff morale and patient outcomes. Some informants in study IV likened their experiences during the pandemic to working on an assembly line, where individualized care was sacrificed, and everyone received largely the same treatment. This approach conflicted with their nursing ethics, which emphasize person-centred care, and led to ethical stress. A recent study [163] showed that nurses experienced moral distress due to e.g. witnessing patients dying alone, families being prohibited from visiting patients, and the improper withdrawal of life support. And that nurses therefore experienced psycho-emotional symptoms such as anger, irritability, anxiety, and depression, as well as physical symptoms like insomnia. These findings underscore the profound impact of the pandemic on nurses' mental and physical health. Addressing these issues requires a concerted effort to ensure adequate PPE, support for ethical decision-making, and resources to manage stress and moral distress. By doing so, we can better support nurses in their critical roles and safeguard their well-being.

The informants in study **IV** reported feeling stressed due to inadequate PPE. Some informants working in ambulance services mentioned that they were not allowed to use their specially adapted breathing masks because they lacked the correct CE marking. Although some informants chose to use these masks anyway, it raises an important question: Why would healthcare organizations allow their staff to work with inferior breathing masks, thereby increasing the risk of exposure? Furthermore, if nurses are forced to work with inadequate protection, what are the ethical implications for their duty to care for patients?

The findings from studies I and IV revealed that many informants felt significant frustration during the pandemic. This frustration was directed not only towards the general public, who often disregarded safety guidelines, but more intensely towards healthcare organizations, which were perceived as dishonest and unsupportive. A study from the United States [139] also highlighted a significant distrust towards management among nurses. Many informants felt that management was not transparent about the inadequacy of PPE and encouraging re-use of single-use materials. This perceived dishonesty exacerbated feelings of mistrust and frustration, further straining the relationship between healthcare staff and management. Addressing these concerns through open communication and honesty is essential to rebuild trust and ensure the well-being and safety of healthcare workers. Additionally, informants in study IV expressed their exasperation with individuals who questioned the existence of the COVID-19 virus and who spread false information about the pandemic. This was also found in a study by Craw et al [164] where the informants shared how individuals would question the severity of the situation, doubting whether people were truly sick or dying thus showing a lack of sensitivity from non-nurses which deeply frustrated the nurses.

These experiences highlight the emotional toll on healthcare professionals, who not only had to manage the physical demands of the pandemic but also navigate the psychological strain caused by public scepticism and organizational shortcomings. The frustration felt by nurses underscores the need for better support systems and public education to foster a more understanding and cooperative environment during health crises. Despite these challenges, one positive aspect that emerged was the experience of eustress during the pandemic (study **IV**). Previous research [165] has shown that eustress had a significant impact on the psychosocial work environment of nurses. This positive stress helped nurses stay motivated and energetic, enhancing their performance and promoting personal growth by instilling a sense of meaning and purpose in their work. This may have led to nurses feeling more engaged and capable of handling the high demands and stress with resilience brought about by the pandemic.

Resilience amidst crises

As previously noted, some informants in study **IV** felt that the pandemic had little impact on their lives. This resilience may be attributed to their strong sense of coherence, which provided them with stability and purpose amidst the challenges. The personal resources they metaphorically carried played a crucial role in maintaining this high level of coherence. Previous research shows that stress, depression [166-167], burnout, and PTSD are negatively correlated with a sense of coherence (SOC). SOC can serve as both a mediating and predictive variable for

these health issues [166]. Hence, enhancing SOC could potentially mitigate the adverse effects of these conditions.

The informants in studies I and IV expressed a profound sense of satisfaction from being needed and making a meaningful impact. They also found joy in observing their own growth and the growth of others. This resilience highlights their ability to transform the difficulties posed by the COVID-19 pandemic into opportunities, devising innovative solutions to overcome the obstacles they encountered. Recent studies have suggested that nurses and other healthcare professionals in China, Taiwan, and Israel experienced post-traumatic growth [168-169]. It has been suggested that individuals who are satisfied with their work are more likely to find meaning in it, which could facilitate post-traumatic growth [169]. Ida et al. identified a positive relationship between SOC, job satisfaction, and workplace adaptability [170]. SOC was also linked to all General Resistance Resources (GRRs), with work control being the most significant, followed by social relationships and task importance [171]. Nurses with high SOC scores reported better health, greater work engagement, and more social support [172]. Additionally, individuals with high SOC tend to have better sleep quality [173] and employ problem-oriented strategies to cope with workplace stress, thereby making sense of the stress they experience [174].

Some informants in the interview study (study **IV**) described their experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic as traumatic. This aligns with findings from two studies on Palestinian health workers that explored the relationship between SOC and war trauma. Veronese and Pepe found that SOC partially mediated the impact of trauma on anxiety and social dysfunction and fully mediated the relationship between trauma and loss of confidence [175]. This indicates that a strong SOC can help mitigate some of the negative psychological effects of trauma. Another study by Veronese and Pepe further demonstrated that psychological distress was positively correlated with symptoms of intrusion and avoidance, and negatively correlated with SOC. This confirms SOC's role as a mediating factor in the effects of trauma on mental health across different professional groups [176]. In other words, individuals with a higher SOC are better equipped to handle the psychological impacts of trauma, reducing the likelihood of severe mental health issues.

These findings highlight the importance of fostering a strong SOC among healthcare workers, particularly nurses, who are often on the front lines during crises like the COVID-19 pandemic. Enhancing SOC could be a key strategy in helping nurses cope with the traumatic experiences they face, thereby improving their overall mental health and resilience. This could involve providing more robust support systems, continuous professional development, and creating a work environment that promotes a sense of coherence and well-being.

The impact of social and instrumental support on nurses' well-being

Support can be divided into instrumental and social support. Instrumental support can be described as a form of social support that focuses on solving practical problems and reducing stress by relieving and helping with specific tasks. Social support refers to the assistance and comfort received from others, which can be crucial for well-being and ability to handle stress and challenges [177-178]. During the pandemic and when there is a shortage of staff, nurses were unable to help colleagues due to lack of time and resources. The findings from study I-IV showed that most informants felt a strong social support from family and colleagues which could increase the effect of GRR and thus helping the nurses cope with stress. Research indicates that nurses who receive support and successfully navigate psychological challenges tend to experience lower levels of anxiety [179]. The informants (study IV) described social support as difficult to offer during the pandemic due to social restrictions when they were not allowed to sit closer than 2 meters and thus were unable to give your colleague a hug when he or she had a difficult time. They also found it difficult not to be able to meet the relatives of the patients they cared for so that they could determine how they reacted to information about the patients' condition. Having social support increases the possibility to manage situations and increase one's sense of well-being and community, whilst not having or not being able to give enough support can cause ethical stress.

The Job Demand-Control-Support model (JDCS) [180] explains how job characteristics influence employees' perceived health and well-being. The informants (study **I-IV**) stated that they during the pandemic faced increased job demands due to staff shortages and the high volume of patients. This increased workload made it difficult for nurses to provide instrumental support to their colleagues, as they lacked the time and resources to assist with specific tasks. The inability to offer or receive instrumental support reduced nurses' control over their work environment. They couldn't manage their tasks effectively or alleviate their workload, leading to increased stress and a sense of helplessness. While available resources and supplies are part of organizational support, Eisenberger et al. [181] emphasize that feeling supported goes beyond just salary, resources, and awards.

Instrumental support involves practical assistance with tasks, which can help reduce job demands and stress. However, during the pandemic, the lack of time and resources prevented the informants from providing this support to each other (study **IV**), exacerbating their stress levels. Social support, which includes emotional comfort and assistance from others, is vital for well-being. The pandemic's social restrictions, such as maintaining physical distance and the inability to offer physical comfort (e.g., hugs) (study **I** and **IV**), hindered the provision of social support. This lack of social interaction and emotional support further increased stress and ethical concerns among nurses. The inability to provide or receive adequate support, both instrumental and social, contributed to ethical stress. The informants experienced distress due to their inability to support colleagues or connect with patients' families

(study **IV**), impacting their sense of well-being and community. Recent research has shown that disasters and pandemics can create complex morally stressful situations [182]. Despite these challenges, some informants (study **IV**) exhibited remarkable resilience by discovering innovative ways to manage the heightened demands and lack of support such as doing yoga, bringing treats to work or having 'social distancing picnics' with colleagues. Their adaptability and resourcefulness not only helped them cope but also underscored the critical role of resilience in navigating such crises. This resilience is crucial for maintaining well-being in high-stress environments. By integrating the concepts of instrumental and social support into the JDCS model [180], we can better understand how the lack of these supports during the pandemic exacerbated job demands and reduced job control, leading to increased stress and ethical concerns among nurses. This highlights the importance of ensuring adequate support systems to enhance job control and manage job demands effectively.

The findings from study **I** and **IV** have shown that the informants experienced problems with the physical and psychological work environment. Florence Nightingale (1860) emphasized the importance of a well-designed nursing environment, and modern research continues to support this. Environmental factors such as noise levels, ventilation, temperature, lighting, and the possibility of ergonomic performance of work tasks have a significant impact on people's health and well-being [183-184]. The physical space plays an important role in the healthcare staff's work environment and their well-being, as does the psychological environment. Instrumental support, which includes tangible assistance such as resources, tools, and help with tasks, is crucial for enabling employees to perform their duties effectively.

Social support, encompassing emotional encouragement, camaraderie, and a sense of belonging, plays a vital role in maintaining morale and mental well-being. A good working environment is characterized by the presence of both instrumental and social support. Social support plays a crucial role in employee job satisfaction [185]. Previous research has demonstrated that higher levels of social support, whether received or perceived, enhance employees' participation and commitment to their work, ultimately leading to greater job satisfaction [186]. Rousseau and Aubé [187] highlight that social support in the workplace fosters a positive work experience, which in turn promotes a stronger commitment to one's job. By cultivating a supportive work environment, organizations can significantly improve employee morale and productivity. Based on the findings from study IV, some informants reported that the pandemic did not impact their health or work situation. This could suggest that when employees have access to essential resources and receive support from their colleagues and supervisors, they are more likely to experience job satisfaction and lower stress levels. Previous research has demonstrated that creating environments that boost employees' sense of empowerment can positively impact their well-being and, in turn, improve overall organizational effectiveness [188]. Moreover, a positive work environment that prioritizes support can mitigate the adverse effects of high-stress situations, such as those experienced during the COVID-19 pandemic. For instance, nurses who received adequate instrumental support, such as sufficient PPE and manageable workloads, alongside social support from their peers and supervisors, were potentially better equipped to handle the increased demands and emotional toll of their work. In essence, instrumental and social support are not just beneficial but essential components of a good working environment. They create a foundation where employees can thrive, adapt to challenges, and maintain their well-being, ultimately leading to a more resilient and effective workforce.

Creating a person-centred workplace

The initial study (study I) did not yield any findings related to person-centredness during the pandemic. However, the interview study (study IV) highlighted the importance of adopting a person-centred approach not only for patients but also for healthcare staff. This underscores the need for a holistic person-centred strategy within healthcare settings. The person-centred perspective places the person at the centre and the focus is on the person to be treated as a sovereign unique person and based on what strengthens his/her unique well-being [189-191]. Person-centredness requires the responsiveness of the environment, good communication, understanding, flexibility and support to adapt the circumstances to the unique person's needs, wishes and priorities [189-191]. In person-centred care, the importance of good communication and good relationships is emphasized [192-194]. Participation and good relationships are a fundamental aspect of personcentredness, and it is important to be responsive in the communication process [32, 192]. Good communication and good relationships are also important tools for the health-promoting organizational and mental work environment [195] and also causes successful person-centred care to be described as providing higher job satisfaction and lower stress of conscience among staff [194-196]. This reflects how salutogenesis and person-centredness interact. The informants (study IV) stated that they did not feel included in decision making. Participation and, as far as possible, being included in decisions and processes is important for employees' health and are also important aspects in employee engagement, work motivation and a sustainable health-promoting work situation with good employability over a long working life [85,92,195]. The health concepts salutogenesis and pathogenesis are central in person-centred care, where the focus is on the individual's unique needs and resources, hence why it is important to illuminate the whole from both health perspectives. Salutogenesis is about identifying and strengthening the factors and processes that contribute to health and well-being, also called "health resources". This perspective emphasizes people's abilities and resources to deal with life's challenges and create a meaningful existence.

Pathogenesis, on the other hand, focuses on the factors that cause disease and illness. This perspective is more traditional in medicine and involves identifying and

treating diseases and their causes. In person-centred care, this means that the care also considers the specific diseases and health problems that the individual has, but that this is done in conjunction with a salutogenic approach. The International College of Person-Centred Medicine (ICPCM) has acknowledged the central role of salutogenic concepts in promoting and preserving health and well-being [197]. This is of particular importance during crises, such as wars, natural disasters and pandemics.

Having good leadership is a vital part of creating person-centred workplaces. Some research links leadership style to nursing work conditions. For instance, multiple studies show positive effects of an authentic leadership strategy within the nursing profession [198-199]. The findings from the studies (**I-IV**), with a few exceptions, showed that the experiences were that managers were mostly absent and unsupportive. This caused frustration and was one of the aspects that informants thought of when leaving their workplace. Kleinman [200] found that when leaders had a high visibility in the departments and were supportive of staff it had a positive influence on nurse retention.

Person-centredness can be seen both from the perspective of the patient in focus and from the perspective of the nurse in focus. In order to be able to offer good person-centred care, it is important not to forget that the healthcare staff themselves also need to feel well and experience well-being in order to perform their work in the best possible way. This was what was lacking according to the results in study **IV** and in some extent in study **I**. Very little research has been done on how personcentred care affects the work environment of healthcare staff, making it important to reflect on how a person-centred work environment can be created and maintained. A person-centred work environment means creating a workplace where the needs, abilities, and well-being of healthcare staff are in focus.

Just as in person-centred care, it is important that healthcare staff feel like equal partners in the work environment. This means they have influence over decisions that affect their work and work environment. The findings from studies I and IV indicate that the informants felt they had little influence over decision-making processes. This lack of influence has also been highlighted in previous research [138-139]. A person-centred work environment must be built on mutual respect and understanding of each other's knowledge and experiences. This includes recognizing and valuing the staff's insights into what it is like to work in healthcare. A person-centred work environment must take into account the psychosocial work environment, which means creating a workplace where staff feel safe, appreciated, and motivated. This can help reduce stress and burnout. Effective communication and collaboration between different professional groups are crucial for creating a person-centred work environment. This means encouraging open dialogues and working together to solve problems and improve work processes.

In a person-centred workplace, it is important to have person-centred leadership with the individual, i.e., the employee, in focus, seeing them as an individual and not just a name to fill a position. To work person-centred at the management level, those responsible for the operations need to find out what the recipient want, think, feel, and can do. In this way, the perspective can shift from an operational perspective to a person-centred perspective.

As mentioned previously it is important for organizations and managers to see each employee as a unique individual. When organizations and leadership create conditions for nurses to be valued as individuals, in an atmosphere of trust, support, participation and respect, burnout can be reduced and perhaps, in the long term, nursing teams can be more stable, and the individuals can flourish. The nursing leadership style, the perceived support of the organization and a work environment based on trust, are positively associated with nurses' well-being, nurse retention and with the improvement of nursing care quality [201]. Although work-related salutogenic research has existed and expanded, albeit slowly, for the past 20 years, perhaps now it is finally happening, perhaps it took a pandemic to understand that something radical had to be done. Ultimately, it is crucial that the work environment for nurses' transitions from a state of crisis to one that genuinely supports and cares for the staff.

"This is not the end – it is the beginning of change"

(Accredited to Winston Churchill)

Methodological considerations

Methodological discussions are important for several reasons. They help make the research process clearer and more transparent, enabling other researchers to understand how the study was conducted. This is crucial to be able to replicate the findings and assess the credibility of the study. A careful methodological discussion ensures that the findings are dependable and valid. By reviewing and discussing the methods used, researchers can identify potential sources of error and bias, which strengthens the study's conclusions. By participating in methodological discussions, researchers can learn from each other's experiences and improve their own methods. This leads to continuous development and improvement of research methods in the field.

The study population in papers **I-IV** was limited to Swedish nurses and in study **IV** the sample turned out more homogenous than expected since all informants had Swedish/ half-Swedish descent. A potential limitation in study **IV** was what can be perceived as a low number of informants (n=14). However, after 12 interviews saturation was experienced. One concern when doing any type of studies with informants is healthy worker and selection bias, where we could end up missing those with poor health that has already left the work force. In study **II** (n = 4692 vs

n = 3107) and III (n = 143) the sample sizes were relatively large which works in our favour since internal comparisons are reported as one of the most effective ways to reduce healthy worker effect [202].

The *credibility* of qualitative study findings hinges on how much the reader trusts the research and its findings, which is the primary aim of qualitative research [203]. In study IV we examined what was relevant to the research area through semistructured interviews. The use of semi-structured interviews in qualitative studies contributes to credibility in several ways. Credibility in qualitative studies is about ensuring that the findings are trustworthy, transferable, and confirmable. Semistructured interviews allow for in-depth insights and detailed responses from informants by providing a more nuanced view of the research topic. By using a clear and transparent interview guide, researchers can ensure that the interview process is consistent and reproducible, which strengthens trustworthiness. Detailed descriptions of the interview process and context enable other researchers to assess how the findings can be transferred to other contexts. The semi-structured interview guide (Appendix I) was used for all interviews which increases the dependability. *Confirmability* addresses the objectivity of data interpretation [203]. Interview findings are inherently linked to the researchers, as their prior understanding plays a crucial role in the interpretation process. It is beneficial for the analysis to be conducted by multiple individuals [204]. The researchers who analysed the material in the included studies (study I-IV) have different professional backgrounds such as nursing and public health which also contributed to maintaining the objectivity. In order to gain a deeper understanding and to have a more diverse sample in study IV we chose to include informants from another region. One thing that could have increased the credibility would have been to let the informants read their transcribed interview in order to make sure that it captured what they were trying to say. However, a good reason for not having informants review their transcribed interviews could be the need to maintain the authenticity and spontaneity of their responses. Revisiting the transcripts could lead to retrospective changes that might alter the original context and meaning of their statements.

According to Creswell and Creswell [205] *internal validity* includes how reliable the findings are that is if the study investigates what was intended to be studied. The findings answer the aim of the study, and the questionnaire is consistent with the purpose of the studies (**II** and **III**). Polit and Beck [206] states that *construct validity* concern the accuracy of measuring the phenomenon under study. It cannot be ruled out that some of the questions in the questionnaire may have been misunderstood. Among the included questions there were no internal non-response. *External validity* refers to how well the findings of a study can be generalized to the broader population, different settings, and future scenarios [205]. The sample in the study can be seen as representative of the nursing population and can most likely be generalized to similar populations and settings. With the high likeliness for future pandemics or major events the findings from studies performed during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic can likely be applied. The questionnaire (study **II** and **III**) has

been used in several previous studies, and it is likely that an independent researcher would come to the same findings.

Alternative analysis methods

In study I, one alternative could have been thematic analysis of the material. In study II and III we could have used factor analysis if we wanted to identify underlying relationships between observed variables. However, the focus of the study would then be on psychometrics or to merge questions into component factors for further analysis. Another option could have been to take the key factors that affected nurses' health (study II) and then used structural equation modelling (SEM) to explore these complex relationships further. If we wanted to group nurses based on similar health profiles or risk factors (study III) we could have used cluster analysis. In study IV, one of the alternative methods for analysis was discourse analysis and this is something we discussed at length. It could have been interesting to have had focus groups discussions before the individual interviews. Another approach for paper IV could have been phenomenology or thematic analysis.

Conclusion

The current study sought to better understand the experiences of nurses' health and work situation before, during and after the COVID-19 pandemic. In conclusion, the pandemic has underscored the critical need for empowering nurses by giving them more control over their tasks and responsibilities both as individuals and in a group. This empowerment is essential not only for enhancing job satisfaction and productivity but also for maintaining their psychological resilience. The pandemic highlighted the importance of balancing the duty of care with the safety and wellbeing of nurses, emphasizing the need for supportive management structures, adequate resource allocation, and a healthy work environment. The experiences of nurses during the pandemic revealed significant stress and frustration, exacerbated by inadequate protective measures and organizational shortcomings. These challenges underscore the necessity of robust support systems and public education to foster a cooperative environment during health crises. The resilience demonstrated by some informants, driven by a strong sense of coherence and social support, highlights the potential for post-traumatic growth and the importance of a supportive work culture. Ultimately, creating a person-centred workplace that values the needs and well-being of healthcare staff is crucial. This involves fostering mutual respect, effective communication, and collaboration, as well as providing opportunities for professional development and emotional support. By prioritizing the health and integrity of nurses, healthcare organizations can ensure that they are

better equipped to handle future crises while maintaining high standards of patient care.

Future studies remain necessary to assess the factors associated with the development of mental health problems among healthcare workers. Strong recommendations are aimed at governments, policymakers, and relevant stakeholders to pay close attention to and address the mental health burdens of healthcare workers.

Knowledge contribution and relevance

The new knowledge that was generated from this project is valuable for the design of healthy and sustainable workplaces of the future, especially with a focus on the nurse's work situation. The knowledge intends to contribute to preventing sick leave, flight from the nursing profession, promoting health and strengthening the possibility for a longer working life. My thesis can thus also be a contribution to how the health and medical care's supply of skills can be optimised. The dissertation's expected new contribution to knowledge is linked to the UN's sustainability goals 3 (ensuring healthy lives and promoting well-being for all at all ages) and 8 (that all people should have a job with good working conditions) in Agenda 2030 [207].

The findings of the thesis intend to contribute to knowledge about what gives the possibility of a healthy, longer and sustainable working life and employability as a nurse in the health care sector.

Need for further research

Further research is necessary to identify effective interventions for reducing job stress and its negative impacts. The COVID-19 pandemic highlighted the precarious employment conditions many nurses face, which can adversely affect their physical and mental health. Understanding how these conditions impact health is crucial for developing policies to protect nurses. Additionally, more research with a salutogenic focus is needed. Consequently, it is important to explore how a person-centred work environment can be established and sustained, prioritizing the needs, abilities, and well-being of healthcare staff.

Epilogue

In the prologue, I pondered whether we could draw parallels between the Crimean War, where Florence Nightingale and Mary Seacole made significant impacts, and modern healthcare, especially as we face another conflict on the Crimean Peninsula. Despite our extensive knowledge of how a good working environment affects staff well-being, we still face major challenges in today's healthcare. It is paradoxical that, despite technological advances and increased awareness, we continue to struggle with issues such as overcrowding, patients in corridors, temporary premises, and poor ventilation.

Overcrowding of hospitals leading to patients being placed in corridors is a global problem and often result from a lack of resources and beds [208-209]. When hospitals are overcrowded, patients are forced to wait in corridors, which is not only unsafe but also negatively impacts their recovery. This creates a stressful work environment for healthcare staff, who must manage more patients than is optimal. Working in temporary premises with poor ventilation can lead to numerous health problems for both patients and staff, as was found in study **IV**. Poor air quality can exacerbate illnesses and create an unpleasant work environment, which in turn can affect staff efficiency and morale. Unfortunately, research has shown that many nurses had to endure these conditions during the pandemic. So why haven't we made more progress? Several factors contribute to these problems:

- 1. **Financial constraints:** Many healthcare facilities have limited budgets, making it difficult to invest in necessary infrastructure improvements.
- 2. **Shortage of personnel:** A global shortage of healthcare workers means that existing staff are often overworked, leading to burnout and reduced quality of care.
- 3. **Bureaucracy and slow decision-making processes:** Changes in healthcare can be slow due to complex decision-making processes and bureaucracy. Changes must also occur on several levels.
- 4. **Increasing healthcare needs:** An aging population and rising numbers of chronic diseases increase the pressure on the healthcare system, making it difficult to keep up with demand.

These challenges are linked to two of the UN's global sustainability goals [207]: Goal 3: *Good Health and Well-being* aims to ensure healthy lives and promote wellbeing for all at all ages. A good working environment for healthcare professionals is crucial to achieving this goal, as the health and working conditions of staff directly affect the quality of care they can provide. Goal 8: *Decent Work and Economic Growth* emphasizes the importance of promoting inclusive and sustainable economic growth, full and productive employment, and decent working conditions for all. Improving the working environment in healthcare is part of creating decent working conditions, which in turn can lead to better care and increased well-being for both staff and patients.

Despite these challenges, it is important to continue striving for improvements. By integrating historical lessons (including those from previous pandemics) and working towards the UN's global sustainability goals—such as investing in better working environments and streamlining care processes—we can move towards a more sustainable and efficient healthcare system that benefits both staff and patients. Achieving this requires cooperation between politicians, healthcare organizations, and healthcare staff.

Our studies and those of others have shown that many nurses have or are in the process of burning themselves out. Poortaghi et al [210] has an interesting take on burnout, i.e. that it could be a sign of nurses learning to protect their work-life balance so they can be healthy and strong when their patients need it most. Whatever the case, and as McClelland and Chopra [144] states, healthcare workers should not need to choose between caring for themselves and caring for patients.

The way forward: What do we do now?

The findings show that Swedish healthcare is undersized, and that more focus needs to be on primary care taking more responsibility (and having the necessary resources to do so). Training healthcare staff is expensive and takes time, and ongoing efforts are made to improve the global health workforce shortage [211]. Nursing schools in Sweden have received directives that they must increase their admission of nursing students each term, however, many schools have limitations in terms of staff and premises in order to take care of these students in a good way. This can potentially lead to poorer opportunities for the teachers in the nursing programs to effectively prepare the students for their future professional role and the challenges they will face. Which may be a contributing reason why some nurses quit after only a few years in the profession. In addition, it is also important for nursing students to take more responsibilities for their studies. Tsai [212] states that it is important to empower nursing students to take charge of their learning since it nurtures habits of lifelong learning, critical thinking, and adaptability, which are essential in the ever-evolving field of healthcare.

According to the Swedish Work Environment Agency's annual report on occupational injuries in 2023 [213], the most common cause of occupational diseases is poor organization and social factors, such as high workloads with little opportunity to influence one's work and recover. Therefore, it is crucial to improve the organizational structures and working conditions for nurses. While striving for a sustainable working environment is essential, it will take time to achieve.

One pressing issue is the supply of skilled healthcare workers. We cannot simply conjure up a large number of new healthcare staff; instead, we need to think creatively about how to utilize existing staff more effectively. This might involve finding new ways of working or redistributing tasks.

What can be done to improve nurses' work situations? Nurses should receive fair compensation for their critical role in caring for human lives. This echoes Florence Nightingale's fight for decent wages for nurses—how is it that we are still battling this issue today? Some organizations in Sweden are experimenting with different interventions, such as shorter workdays or reduced work hours. For example, one model involves nurses working six-hour days, while another implements a 34-hour workweek, both of which seem to provide staff with more opportunities for recuperation.

Additionally, fostering teamwork, creating opportunities for training and promotion, and cultivating a culture of recognition could also prove effective in improving nurses' work conditions. By addressing these areas, we can better support the nursing staff and enhance their overall well-being.

Using artificial intelligence

"Haven't I taught you anything? What have I always told you? Never trust anything that can think for itself if you can't see where it keeps its brain?"

- J.K. Rowling, Harry Potter and the Chamber of Secrets

Even though I have been a bit of an opponent of AI, maybe AI could still be one of the solutions. AI could be used in several ways to solve organizational problems in healthcare. Artificial intelligence has been a part of medicine since the 1950s, when physicians first began using computer-aided programs to enhance their diagnostic capabilities [214]. In recent years, interest and advancements in medical AI applications have significantly increased, driven by the greatly improved computing power of modern computers and the vast amounts of digital data available for collection and use [215]. Preliminary studies have already shown that AI can detect symptoms of, for example, heart attacks faster than what a human can do and that it could detect tumours at an earlier stage. Could AI automate documentation and record keeping, which would then reduce the administrative burden on healthcare professionals and free up time for patient care? Could we use AI for resource optimization such as personnel planning and inventory management? AI-powered systems can monitor patients' vital signs in real time and alert health care professionals when necessary, improving patient safety and quality of care. Predictive analytics: AI can predict patient flows and disease outbreaks, helping hospitals prepare better and allocate resources more efficiently. However, any implementation of AI in healthcare requires careful planning and consideration of ethical and legal aspects to ensure that the technology is used safely and effectively.

Initiated and planned research studies:

- One of the goals in the beginning of this PhD project was to examine whether nurses were able to work according to person-centredness during the pandemic? Data gathered in the interviews (study **IV**) will be analyzed.
- In the interview study (**IV**) the informants also put forward requests and suggestions for changes in the clinical work. This material will be analyzed and will hopefully result in research output.
- Action research based on study **I-IV** to produce an action plan to improve nurses' work situation is under work. Here we plan to include clinically active nurses (Group Concept Mapping) in the research. (Pilot-studies have begun).
- It is also important to continue research on how a person-centred workplace can be created since it is important for employees to feel like a unique individual and not a game piece on a chessboard.

Acknowledgements

I am profoundly grateful to my supervisors for their invaluable advice, continuous support, and patience throughout my PhD studies. To Professor Kerstin Nilsson, my head supervisor, thank you for pushing me to my limits and allowing me the freedom to explore my "researcher-wings" during this journey. To Professor Albert Westergren, one of my three co-supervisors, thank you for your guidance, patience in answering my many (many) questions, and our enriching discussions about the legendary women of nursing. I am deeply thankful to Petra Nilsson Lindström for her unwavering support, belief in me, and guidance in the area of salutogenesis. My sincere gratitude goes to my co-supervisor Sophie Schön Persson for her support and insightful comments and suggestions.

I extend my gratitude to the Research Platform for Collaborations for Health at Kristianstad University for funding my studies. To my fellow PhD candidates, with whom I have shared laughter and tears, thank you for your constructive criticism of my manuscripts, always given with the best intentions.

To my friends, both in Sweden and around the world, who have kept me (somewhat) sane with the help of adult beverages and chocolate, especially during the PhD process, thank you. On a personal note, my heartfelt appreciation and love go to my family—my parents, my husband, and my daughter—whose support has been indispensable.

I wish to acknowledge Annelie Tillman at Kristianstad University for her assistance with the figures in this thesis. Thank you in advance to Professor Christine Kumlien for accepting the role of opponent during my dissertation, and I express my sincere appreciation to the committee members for taking the time to review my thesis and offer their insights.

Finally, my warmest and most heartfelt thanks go to all the nurses who took time out of their lives to provide me with the data on which my research is based. I am deeply grateful for your shared experiences, which were incredibly poignant. Without your time and input, this research would not have been possible.

References

- 1. Austgard, K. (2006). The aesthetic experience of nursing. *Nursing Philosophy: An International Journal for Healthcare Professionals*, 7(1), 11-19. DOI: 10.1111/j.1466-769X.2006.00242.x
- 2. Wiedenbach, E. (1964). Clinical Nursing: A helping art (1st ed). Springer.
- 3. Moberg, Å. (2007). *Hon var ingen Florence Nightingale. Människan bakom myten (1st ed).* Natur och Kultur.
- 4. Goldie, S.M. (1997). *Florence Nightingale Letters from the Crimea 1854-1856 (1st ed)*. Manchester University Press.
- 5. Nightingale, F. (1989). *Anteckningar om sjukvård ur vårt tidsperspektiv*. FoU-rapport 31. Vårdförbundet SHSTF. Artemis.
- 6. Bostridge, M. (2020). *Florence Nightingale The woman and her legend (1st ed)*. Penguin Random House.
- Stanley, D., & Sherrat, A. (2010). Lamp light on leadership: Clinical leadership and Florence Nightingale. *Journal of Nurs Management*, 18(2), 115-121. DOI:10.1111/j.1365-2834.2010.01051.x
- 8. Anionwu, E. N. (2012). Mary Seacole: nursing care in many lands. *British Journal of Healthcare Assistants*, 6(5), 244–248. DOI:10.12968/bjha.2012.6.5.244
- 9. Seacole, M. (2005). Wonderful Adventures of Mrs. Seacole in Many Lands (1st ed reprint). Penguin Classics.
- 10. WHO. (2019a). *Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic*. https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019
- 11. WHO. (2019b). *Protecting workers' health*.. https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/protecting-workers'-health
- 12. WHO. (2019c). *Healthy workplaces: a model for action for employers, workers, policymakers and practitioners*. https://www.who.int/publications-detail/healthy-workplaces-a-model-for-action
- 13. WHO. (2019d). Mental disorders. https://www.who.int/mental_health/management/en/
- 14. Vård-och omsorgsanalys. (2024). *Redo för framtiden?* (Rapport 2024:1). https://www.vardanalys.se/rapporter/redo-for-framtiden/
- 15. National board of health and welfare. (2023). *Bedömning av tillgång och efterfrågan på legitimerad personal i hälso- och sjukvård samt tandvård. Nationella planeringsstödet 2023.* https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/globalassets/sharepoint-dokument/artikelkatalog/ovrigt/2023-2-8352.pdf
- 16. Statistics Sweden. (2020). *Trends and Forecasts 2020*. https://www.scb.se/en/finding-statistics/statistics-by-subject-area/education-and-research/analysis-trends-and-forecasts-in-education-and-the-labour-market/trends-and-forecasts-for-education-and-labour-market/pong/publications/trends-and-forecasts-2020/
- 17. Sveriges kommuner och regioner (SKR). (2020). *Möt välfärdens kompetensutmaning rekryteringsrapport 2020*. https://rapporter.skr.se/mot-valfardens-kompetensutmaning.html
- AFA-försäkring. (2019). Allvarliga arbetsskador och långvarig sjukfrånvaro. https://www.afaforsakring .se/globalassets/forebyggande/analys-ochstatistik/rapporter/2019/f7060_arbetsskaderapport_2019.pdf

- 19. AFA-försäkring. (2020). Arbetssjukdomar med psykiska orsaker. https://www.afaforsakring.se/globalassets /forebyggande/analys-ochstatistik/rapporter/2020/f6389_arbetssjukdomar-med-psykiska-orsaker.pdf
- 20. Försäkringskassan. (2015). Yrke och sjukfall: Korta analyser (2015:1). Avdelningen för analys och prognos, Försäkringskassan. https://www.forsakringskassan.se/wps/wcm/connect/e1c99b35-629c-4801-944a-81dd359b303c/korta-analyser-2015-1.pdf?MOD=AJPERES&CVID=
- 21. American Nurses Foundation. (2023). Three-year annual assessment survey: Nurses need increased support from their employer. https://www.nursingworld.org/~48fb88/contentassets/23d4f79cea6b4f67ae24714de117 83e9/anf-impact-assessment-third-year_v5.pdf
- 22. Lasater, K.B., Aiken, L.H., Sloane, D., French, R., Martin, B., Alexander, M., & McHugh, M.D. (2021). Patient outcomes and cost savings associated with hospital safe nurse staffing legislation: An observational study. *BMJ Open*, 11(12), e052899. DOI:10.1136/bmjopen-2021-052899
- 23. Sanborn, H. (2023). Numbers don't lie: Interpreting recent nursing workforce data. *Nursing Economics*, 41(5), 251–255. DOI:10.62116/NEC.2023.41.5.251
- 24. Nilsson, K. (2020). Situationen under COVID-19 pandemin för 7781 hälso- och sjukvårdsanställda: enkätsvar vid uppföljningsstudien Hållbart arbetsliv inom hälso- och sjukvården (14:2020). Arbets- och miljömedicin Syd Södra sjukvårdsregionen & Lunds universitet. https://sodrasjukvardsregionen.se/download/rapport-142020- situationen-under-covid-19-pandemin-for-7-781-halso-och-sjukvardsanstallda/
- 25. Schuklenk, U. (2020). What healthcare professionals owe us: why their duty to treat during a pandemic is contingent on personal protective equipment (PPE). *Journal of medical ethics*, 46(7), 432-435. https://www.jstor.org/stable/27197946
- 26. McClelland, A., & Chopra, M. (2024). *Investing in and protecting nurses a healthy workplace matters in The Economic Power of Care*. International Council of Nurses. https://www.icn.ch/sites/default/files/2024-05/ICN_IND2024_report_EN_A4_6.1.pdf
- 27. Wang, H., Munge Kabubei, K., Rasanathan, J., Kazungu, J., Ginindza, S., Mtshali, S., Salinas, L. E., McClelland, A., Buissonniere, M., Lee, C. T., Chuma, J., Veillard, J., Matsebula, T., & Chopra, M. (2023). *The Economic Burden of SARS-CoV-2 Infection Amongst Health Care Workers in the First Year of the Pandemic in Kenya, Colombia, Eswatini, and South Africa*. World Bank. http://hdl.handle.net/10986/40070
- 28. Hill, B. (2023). Professional identity in nursing. *British Journal of Nursing*, 32(15), 706. DOI:10.12968/bjon.2023.32.15.706
- 29. Demerouti, E., Bakker, A., Nachreiner, F., & Schaufeli, W. (2000). A model of burnout and life satisfaction among nurses. J Adv Nurs, 32(2), 454-464. DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2648.2000.01496.x
- 30. Smith, N.C. (2024). Nursing: The most trusted profession. Nephrology nursing journal: journal of the American Nephrology Nurses' Association, 51(1), 13-46. DOI:10.37526/1526-744X.2024.51.1.13
- 31. WHO. (2020). *State of the World's nursing: Investing in education, jobs and leadership.* https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240003279

- 32. Aronsson, V., Toivanen, S., Leineweber, C., & Nyberg, A. (2019). Can a poor psychosocial work environment and insufficient organizational resources explain the higher risk of ill-health and sickness absence in human service occupations? Evidence from a Swedish national cohort. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 47(3), 310-317. DOI:10.1177/1403494818812638
- 33. Sousa-Ribeiro, M., Knudsen, K., Persson, L., Lindfors, P., & Sverke, M. (2024). Meaning of working for older nurses and nursing assistants in Sweden: A qualitative study. *Journal of aging studies*, 69. DOI: 10.1016/j.jaging.2024.101230
- 34. American Nurses Association. (2021). *Nursing: Scope and Standards of Practice* (Fourth Edition).
- 35. Mirsch, H. (2024). Sjuksköterskor på liv och död. Lava Förlag.
- 36. Swenurse. (2024). Competence description for Registered Nurses. https://beta.swenurse.se/download/18.63d77b1e18bf5c2bfaa40841/1701244747726/Ko mpetensbeskrivning%20legitimerad%20sjuksko%CC%88terska%202024.pdf
- 37. Mudallal, R.H., Saleh, M.Y.N., Al-Modallal, HM., & Abdel-Rahman, R.Y. (2017). Quality of nursing care: the influence of work con, nurse characteristics and burnout. *International Journal of Africa Nursing Sciences*, 7, 24–30. DOI: 10.1016/J.IJANS.2017.06.002.
- 38. Akter, N., Akkadechanunt, T., Chontawan R., & Klunklin, A. (2018). Factors predicting quality of work life among nurses in tertiary-level hospitals, Bangladesh. *Int Nurs Rev*, 65(2):182–189. DOI: 10.1111/inr.12401.
- 39. Kim, L.Y., Rose, D.E., Ganz, D.A., Giannitrapani, K.F., Yano, E.M., Rubenstein, L.V., & Stockdale, S.E. (2020). Elements of the healthy work environment associated with lower primary care nurse burnout. *Nurs Outlook*, 68(1), 14–25. DOI: 10.1016/j.outlook.2019.06.018
- 40. Nascimento, A., & Jesus, E. (2020). Nursing work environment and patient outcomes in a hospital context: a scoping review. *J Nurs Adm*, 50(5), 261–266. DOI: 10.1097/NNA.00000000000881
- 41. Damschroder, L.J., Aron, D.C., Keith, R.E., Kirsh, S.R., Alexander, J.A., & Lowery, J.C. (2009). Fostering implementation of health services research findings into practice: a consolidated framework for advancing implementation science. *Implement Sci*, 4(1), 50-64. DOI: 10.1186/1748-5908-4-50
- 42. Maassen, S.M., van Oostveen, C., Vermeulen, H., & Weggelaar, A.M. (2021). Defining a positive work environment for hospital healthcare professionals: a Delphi study. *PLoS One*, 16(2), 1-14. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0247530
- 43. Chang, Y.C., Chang, H.Y., & Feng, J.Y. (2022). Appraisal and evaluation of the instruments measuring the nursing work environment: A systematic review. *J Nurs Manag*, 30(3), 670–683. DOI:10.1111/jonm.13559
- 44. Statens Folkhälsoinstitut (2022). Folkhälsopolitikens målområden Målområde 3: Arbete, arbetsförhållanden och arbetsmiljö. https://www.folkhalsomyndigheten.se/publikationer-ochmaterial/publikationsarkiv/f/folkhalsopolitikens-malomraden-malomrade-3-arbetearbetsforhallanden-och-arbetsmiljo/
- 45. Arbetsmiljöverket. (2012). Den goda arbetsmiljön och dess indikatorer (Kunskapsöversikt Rapport 2012:7). https://www.av.se/globalassets/filer/publikationer/kunskaps-sammanstallningar/dengoda-arbetsmiljon-och-dess-indikatorer -kunskapssammanstallningar-rap-2012-7.pdf?hl=friskfaktorer.
- 46. Statens folkhälsoinstitut. (2005). Målområde 4 ökad hälsa i arbetslivet (rapport 2005:53). Statens folkhälsoinstitut.
- 47. Aronsson, G., Theorell, T., Grape, T., Hammarström, A., Hogstedt, C., Marteinsdottir, I., Skoog, I., Träskman-Bendz, L., & Hall, C. (2017). A systematic review including meta-analysis of work environment and burnout symptoms. *BMC Public Health*, 17(1), 1-13. DOI:10.1186/s12889-017-4153-7
- 48. Antonovsky, A. (1987). Unraveling the mysteries of health (1st ed). Jossey-Bass.
- 49. Kanter, R.M. (1993). Men and women of the corporation (2nd ed). Basic Books.
- 50. Antonovsky, A. (2005). Hälsans mysterium (2nd ed). Natur och Kultur.
- 51. Folkman, S., & Moskowitz, J.T. (2004). Coping: pitfalls and promise. *Annu Rev Psychol*, *4*(55), 745-774. DOI: 10.1146/annurev.psych.55.090902.141456
- 52. Vallone, F., Cattaneo Della Volta, M.F., & Zurlo, M.C. (2024). Stress dimensions, patterns of coping, and psychopathological risk among nurses: a person-centred approach. *BMC Nursing*, 23(1). DOI: 10.1186/s12912-024-02250-y
- 53. Baumstarck, K., Alessandrini, M., Hamidou, Z., Auquier, P., Leroy, T., & Boyer, L. (2017). Assessment of coping: A new French four-factor structure of the brief COPE inventory. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 15(1), 1–9. DOI: 10.1186/s12955-016-0581-9.
- 54. Nipp, R. D., El-Jawaheri, A., Fishbein, J. N., Eusebio, J., Stagl, J. M., Gallagher, E. R., & Temel, J. S. (2016). The relationship between coping strategies, quality of life, and mood in patience with incurable cancer. *Cancer*, 122(13), 2110–2116. DOI: 10.1002/cncr.30025.
- 55. Bryant, F. B., & Veroff, J. (2007). *Savoring: A new model of positive experience* (2nd ed). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- 56. Goussinsky, R., & Livne, Y. (2016). Coping with interpersonal mistreatment: the role of emotion regulation strategies and supervisor support. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 24(8), 1109-1118. DOI: 10.1111/jonm.12415
- 57. Saleh, M.O., Eshah, N.F., & Rayan, A.H. (2022). Empowerment Predicting Nurses' Work Motivation and Occupational Mental Health. SAGE Open Nurs, 23, 8, 23779608221076811. DOI: 10.1177/23779608221076811.
- 58. Bringsén, Å., & Nilsson Lindström, P. (2019). Hälsopromotion i teori och praktik olika arenor och målgrupper (1st ed). Liber AB.
- 59. Green, J., & Tones, K. (2024). *Health promotion: Planning and strategies* (5th ed). SAGE.
- 60. Xue, D., Sun, B., Li, W., Li, X., & Xiao, W. (2024). The Relationship between Resiliency, Psychological Empowerment, and Teacher Burnout across Different Genders: A Psychological Network Analysis. *Behavioral Sciences*, 14(10), 878. DOI: 10.3390/bs14100878
- 61. Shani, O. (2020). Organizational Resilience: Antecedents, Consequences, and Practical Implications – for Managers and Change Leaders (Vol. 28). Emerald Publishing Limited. DOI: 10.1108/S0897-30162020000028005

- 62. Nilsson, K. (2020). A sustainable working life for all ages The SwAge-model. *Applied Ergonomics*, 86. DOI: 10.1016/j.apergo.2020.103082
- 63. Foster, K., Roche, M., Delgado, C., Cuzzillo, C., Giandinoto, J. A., & Furness, T. (2019). Resilience and mental health nursing: An integrative review of international literature. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 28, 71–85. DOI: 10.1111/inm.12548
- 64. Keyes, C.L.M. (2007). Promoting and protecting mental health as flourishing. *Am Psychol*, *62*(2), 95–108. DOI: 10.1037/0003-066X.62.2.95
- 65. Seligman, M. E. (2012). *Flourish: A visionary new understanding of happiness and well-being* (1st ed). Free Press.
- 66. Colbert, A.E., Bono, J.E., & Purvanova, R.K. (2016). Flourishing via workplace relationships: Moving beyond instrumental support. *Acad Manag J*, 59(4), 1199–1223. http://www.jstor.org/stable/24758188
- 67. Persson, S. S., Blomqvist, K., & Lindström, P. N. (2021). Meetings are an Important Prerequisite for Flourishing Workplace Relationships. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(15). DOI:10.3390/ijerph18158092
- 68. SBU. (2014). Arbetsmiljöns betydelse för symtom på depression och utmattningssyndrom: en systematisk litteraturöversikt (SBU-rapport nr 223). Statens beredning för medicinsk och social utvärdering. https://www.sbu.se/contentassets/800ad7aecf9146c795d3a89c7a957048/arbetsmiljo_de pression_2014_smf.pdf
- 69. Jenny, G.J., Bauer, G.F., Pelikan, J.M., Vinje, H.V., Vogt, K., & Torp, S. (2022). The Application of Salutogenesis to Work. In M.B, Mittelmark., G.F, Bauer., L, Vaandrager., J.M, Pelikan., S, Sagy., M, Eriksson., B, Lindström., & C, Meier Magistretti. *The Handbook of Salutogenesis*. (2nd ed, 197-210). Springer nature (eBook). DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-04600-6.
- 70. Bauer, G.F., & Jenny, G.J. (2022). The Application of Salutogenesis to Organisations. In M.B, Mittelmark., G.F, Bauer., L, Vaandrager., J.M, Pelikan., S, Sagy., M, Eriksson., B, Lindström., & C, Meier Magistretti. (eds.). *The handbook of salutogenesis* (2nd ed, 211-224). Springer nature (eBook). DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-04600-6.
- 71. Lundqvist, D., Reineholm, C., Gustavsson, M., & Ekberg, K. (2013). Investigating Work Conditions and Burnout at Three Hierarchical Levels. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 55(10), 1157-1163. DOI: 10.1097/JOM.0b013e31829b27df
- 72. Nilsson, P., Andersson, H.I., Ejlertsson, G., & Troein, M. (2012). Workplace health resources based on sense of coherence theory. *Int J Workplace Health Manag*, 5(3), 156-167. DOI: 10.1108/17538351211268809
- 73. Graeser, S. (2011). The international development of health promoting universities. *Prävention und Gesundheitsforderung*, *5*(3), 179-184. DOI: 10.1007/s11553-010-0254-1
- 74. Vaandrager, L., & Koelen, M. (2013). Salutogenesis in the Workplace: Building General Resistance Resources and Sense of Coherence. In: G, Bauer., & G, Jenny. (eds). Salutogenic organizations and change (1st ed, 77-89). Springer. DOI: 10.1007/978-94-007-6470-5_5

- 75. Härmä, M., Karhula K., Puttonen S., Ropponen, A., Koskinen, A., Ojajärvi, A., & Kivimäki, M. (2019). Shift work with and without night work as a risk factor for fatigue and changes in sleep length: A cohort study with linkage to records on daily working hours. *J Sleep Res*, 28(3). DOI: 10.1111/jsr.12658
- 76. European Network for Workplace Health Promotion (ENWHP). (1997). Luxembourg declaration on workplace health promotion in the European Union. https://www.enwhp.org/resources/toolip/doc/2018/05/04/luxembourg_declaration.pdf
- 77. Davenport, L.J., Allisey, A.F., Page, K.M., LaMontagne, A.D., & Reavley, N.J. (2016). How can organisations help employees thrive? The development of guidelines for promoting positive mental health at work. *International Journal of Workplace Health Management*, 9(4), 411-427. DOI: 10.1108/IJWHM-01-2016-0001
- 78. Schön Persson, S., Nilsson, P., Pettersson, P., Andersson, I., & Blomqvist, K. (2018). Relationships between healthcare employees and managers as a resource for well-being at work. *Society, Health & Vulnerability*, 9(1). DOI:10.1080/20021518.2018.1547035
- 79. Mittelmark, M. B., Bauer, G. F., Vaandrager, L., Pelikan, J. M., Sagy, S., Eriksson, M., Lindström, B., & Meier Magistretti, C. (Eds.). (2022). *The Handbook of Salutogenesis*. (2nd ed.). Springer.
- 80. Nilsson, P., Andersson, H.I., & Ejlertsson, G. (2010). Development and quality analysis of the work experience measurement scale (WEMS). *Work*, 35(2), 153-161. DOI: 10.3233/wor-2010-0967
- 81. Sasso, L., Bagnasco, A., Catania, G., Zanini, M., Aleo, G., & Watson, R. (2019). Push and pull factors of nurses' intention to leave. *J Nurs Manag*, 27(5), 946-954. DOI: 10.1111/jonm.12745.
- Stock, E. (2017). Exploring salutogenic as a concept of health and wellbeing in nurses who thrive professionally. *Br J Nurs*, 26(4), 238-241. DOI: 10.12968/bjon.2017.26.4.238
- 83. Vinje, H.F., & Mittelmark, M.B. (2008). Community Nurses Who Thrive: The Critical Role of Job Engagement in the Face of Adversity. *Journal for Nurses in Staff Development (JNSD)* 24(5), 195-202. DOI: 10.1097/01.NND.0000320695.16511.08
- 84. Persson, S.S., Lindström, P.N., Pettersson, P., & Andersson, I. (2018). Workplace relationships impact self-rated health: A survey of Swedish municipal healthcare employees. *Work*, 60(1), 85-94. DOI: 10.3233/WOR-182721
- 85. Bringsén, Å., Andersson, H.I., Ejlertsson, G., & Troein, M. (2012). Exploring workplace-related factors and health from a salutogenic perspective. Results from a focus group study among healthcare workers in Sweden. *Work*, 42(3), 403-414. DOI: 10.3233/WOR-2012-1356.
- 86. Dutton, J.E., & Ragins, B.R. (2007). *Exploring positive relationships at work: Building a theoretical and research foundation*. Hove: Psychology Press.
- 87. Bhattacharya, S., Pradhan, K.B., Bashar, M.A., Tripathi, S., Thiyagarajan, A., Srivastava, A., & Singh, A. (2020). Salutogenesis: A bona fide guide towards health preservation. *J Family Med Prim Care*, 9(1), 16-19. DOI: 10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc_260_19
- Antonovsky, A. (1996). The salutogenic model as a theory to guide health promotion. *Health Promot Int, 11*(1),11-18. DOI: 10.2307/45152280
- 89. Hallin, K., & Danielson, E. (2007). Registered nurses' experiences of daily work, a balance between strain and stimulation: a qualitative study. *International journal of nursing studies*, 44(7), 1221–1230. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2006.05.011

- 90. Volanen, S. M., Lahelma, E., Silventoinen, K., & Suominen, S. (2004). Factors contributing to sense of coherence among men and women. *The European Journal of Public Health*, 14(3), 322-330. DOI: 10.1093/eurpub/14.3.322
- 91. Whitehead, D. (2006). The health-promoting school: what role for nursing? *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, *15*(3), 264-271. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2006.01294.x
- 92. Nilsson, P., Andersson, H.I., & Ejlertsson, G. (2013). The work experience measurement scale (WEMS): A useful tool in workplace health promotion. *Work*, 45(3), 379-387. DOI: 10.3233/WOR-121541
- 93. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018). *Well-being Concepts*. https://www.cdc.gov/hrqol/wellbeing.htm
- 94. Seligman, E.P.M. (1975). *Inlärd hjälplöshet: Om depression, utveckling och död*. Stockholm: Aldus.
- 95. Tveiten, S. (2019). Hälsopedagogik. Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- 96. Eriksson, K. (1997). Vårdandets idé. Stockholm: Liber.
- 97. Nordenfelt, L. (2000). On the comparative approach to defining health: a reply to Brülde. *Medicine, Healthcare and Philosophy, 3*(3), 309-312. DOI: 10.1023/a:1026514001935
- Brülde, B. (2000). More on the looser comparative approach to defining "health": a reply to Nordenfelt's reply. *Medicine, Healthcare and Philosophy*, 3(3), 313–315. DOI: 10.1023/a:1026586818774
- 99. Maeland, J.G. (2010). *Forebyggende helsearbeid i teori og praksis*. Oslo: Universitetsförlaget.
- 100. Eriksson, K. (1984). Hälsans idé. Stockholm: Almquist & Wiksell
- 101.Larson, J. S. (1999). The Conceptualization of Health. *Medical Care Research and Review*, *56*(2), 123–136. DOI: 10.1177/107755879905600201
- 102.Blaxter, M. (2018). *Health* (2nd ed.). Polity. https://www.amazon.com/Health-Key-Concepts-Mildred-Blaxter ebook/dp/B07G3B6QM4/ref=sr_1_6?crid=1SF5CQ007WOF0&keywords=health+key +concepts&gid=1694040925&sprefix=health+key+concept%2Caps%2C244&sr=8-6
- 103.World Health Organization. (2020b). *Basic documents*, 49th ed. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/339554.
- 104.Simmons, S.J. (1989). Health: a concept analysis. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 26(2),155-161. DOI: 10.1016/0020-7489(89)90031-X
- 105.Wezyk, A.B., Arden-Close, E., & Turner-Cobb, J.M. (2024). 'Ask a hundred people, you get a hundred definitions': A comparison of lay and expert understanding of stress and its associations with health. *Stress and Health*, 40(3). DOI: 10.1002/smi.3328
- 106.Cohen, S., Murphy, M.L.M., & Prather, A.A. (2019). Ten surprising facts about stressful life events and disease risk. Annual Review of Psychology, 7(1), 577–597. https://escholarship.org/content/qt0nw4j6ss/qt0nw4j6ss.pdf
- 107.O'Connor, D.B., Thayer, J.F., & Vedhara, K. (2021). Stress and health: A review of psychobiological processes. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 72, 663-688. DOI: 10.1146/annurev-psych-062520-122331
- 108.Kivimäki, M., & Steptoe, A. (2018). Effects of stress on the development and progression of cardiovascular disease. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, 15(4), 215-229. DOI: 10.1038/nrcardio.2017.189

- 109.Nyberg, S.T., Fransson, E.I., Heikkilä, K., Ahola, K., Alfredsson, L., Bjorner, J.B., Borritz, M., Burr, H., Dragano, N., Goldberg, M., Hamer, M., Jokela, M., & Kivimäki, M. (2014). Job strain as a risk factor for type 2 diabetes: A pooled analysis of 124 808 men and women. *Diabetes Care*, 37(8), 2268-2275. DOI: 10.2337/dc13-2936.
- 110.Hughes, K., Bellis, M.A., Hardcastle, K.A., Sethi, D., Butchart, A., Mikton, C., Jones, L., & Dunne, M.P. (2017). The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Public Health*, 2(8), e356-e366. DOI: 10.1016/S2468-2667(17)30118-4
- 111.Huang, L., Lei, W., Xu, F., Liu, H., & Yu, L. (2020). Emotional responses and coping strategies in nurses and nursing students during Covid-19 outbreak: A comparative study. *PLoS ONE*, 15(8), 1-12. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0237303
- 112.Kowalczuk, K., Shpakou, A., Hermanowicz, J.M., Krajewska-Kułak, E., & Sobolewski, M. (2022). Strategies for Coping with Stress Used by Nurses in Poland and Belarus During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Front. Psychiatry*, 13. DOI: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.867148
- 113.Kelly, L.A., Gee, P.M., & Butler, R.J. (2021). Impact of nurse burnout on organizational and position turnover. *Nurs. Outlook*, 69(1), 96–102. DOI: 10.1016/j.outlook.2020.06.008
- 114. Andlib, S., Inayat, S., Azhar, K., & Aziz, F. (2022). Burnout and psychological distress among Pakistani nurses providing care to COVID-19 patients: A cross-sectional study. *Int. Nurs. Rev*, 69(4), 529–537. DOI: 10.1111/inr.12750
- 115.Saposnik, G., Bueno-Gil, G., Sempere, Á.P., Del Río-Muñoz, B., Lendínez-Mesa, A., Azanza-Munarriz, C., Becerril-Ríos, N., Goicochea-Briceño, H., Horno, R., & Sánchez-Franco, C. (2022). Sick leave and occupational burnout among nurses caring for patients with multiple sclerosis. *Mult. Scler. Relat. Disord*, 63. DOI: 10.1016/j.msard.2022.103916
- 116.Pluut, H., Curşeu, P. L., & Fodor, O. C. (2022). Development and validation of a short measure of emotional, physical, and behavioral markers of eustress and distress (MEDS). *Health*, 10(2), 339. DOI: 10.3390/healthcare10020339
- 117. Antczak-Komoterska, A., Haor, B., Malinowska, M., Grzelak, L., Biercewicz, M., Kochman, D., Krajewska, K., Filipska-Blejder, K., Wiésniewski, A., & Slusarz, R. (2023). Analysis of the Level of Stress and Methods of Coping with Stress among the Nursing Staff. *Nurs. Rep, 13*(3), 1318–1330. DOI: 10.3390/ nursrep13030111
- 118.Nilsson, K. (2024). Designing Sustainable Working Lives and Environments Work, Health and Leadership in Theory and Practice. Taylor & Francis. DOI: 10.1201/9781032616681
- 119.Creswell, J.W. (2011). Educational Research: Planning, Conducting and Evaluating Quantitative and Qualitative Research (4th ed). Pearson.
- 120.Ludvigsson, J.F. (2023). How Sweden approached the COVID-19 pandemic: Summary and commentary on the National Commission Inquiry. *Acta Paediatrica*, 112(1), 19-33. DOI: 10.1111/apa.16535
- 121.Higgins, J.P.T., Thomas, J., Chandler, J., Cumpston, M., Li, T., Page, M.J., & Welch, V.A. (editors). (2021). *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (version 6.2). Cochrane. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.
- 122.PRISMA *reporting guidelines* (2020) www.prisma-statement.org/ (accessed on January 21, 2022)

- 123.Khan, K.S., Kunz, R., Kleijnen, J., & Antes, G. (2003). Five steps to conducting a systematic review. *Journal of the royal society of Medicine*,96(3), 118-121. DOI: 10.1177/0141076803096003
- 124.Polit, D. F., & Beck, C. T. (2021). *Nursing Research: generating and assessing evidence for nursing practice* (11th edition). Wolters Kluwer.
- 125.General Data Protection Regulation (EU) 2016/679. http://data.europa.eu/eli/reg/2016/679/2016-05-04 (accessed 20 June 2022).
- 126.Nilsson K. (2005). Vem kan och vill arbeta till 65 år eller längre? En studie av anställda inom hälso- och sjukvården. [Who can and want to work until 65 years or beyond? A study with employed in health and medical care]. *Arbete och hälsa*, 14, 1–35. https://gupea.ub.gu.se/bitstream/2077/4345/1/ah2005_14.pdf
- 127.Nilsson K. (2006). Äldre medarbetares attityder till ett långt arbetsliv. Skillnader mellan olika yrkesgrupper inom hälso- och sjukvården. [Older workers attitude to an extended working life. Differences between occupations in health and medical care.] *Arbetsliv i omvandling, 10*, 1-69 http://nile.lub.lu.se/arbarch/aio/2006/aio2006_10.pdf
- 128.Nilsson, K., Rignell-Hydbom A., & Rylander, L. (2011). Factors influencing the decision to extend working life or to retire. *Scand Journal of Work Environment & Health*, 37(6), 473-480. DOI: 10.1186/s12889-016-3438-6
- 129.Karasek, R., & Theorell, T. (1992). *Healthy work: stress, productivity, and the reconstruction of working life* (New ed). Basic Books.
- 130.Nilsson, K., Rignell-Hydbom, A., & Rylander, L. (2016). How is self-rated health and diagnosed disease associated with early or deferred retirement: a cross-sectional study with employees aged 55-64. *BMC Public Health*, 16(1), 886. DOI: 10.1186/s12889-016-3438-6.
- 131.Nilsson, K. (2017). Hållbart arbetsliv inom hälso- och sjukvården studie om hur 11 902 medarbetare upplever sin arbetssituation. Arbets- och miljömedicin, Lunds universitet: Rapport nr 13/2017. https://sodrasjukvardsregionen.se/download/rapport-132017-hallbart-arbetsliv-inom-halso-och-sjukvarden/
- 132.Singh-Manoux, A., Gueguen, A., Martikainen, P., Ferrie, J., Marmot, M., & Shipley, M. (2007). Self-Rated Health and Mortality: Short- and Long-Term Associations in the Whitehall II Study. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 69(2), 138-143. DOI: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e318030483a
- 133.Lindgren, B. M., Lundman, B., & Graneheim, U. H. (2020). Abstraction and interpretation during the qualitative content analysis process. *International journal of nursing studies*, 108, 103632. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2020.103632
- 134.Elo, S., & Kyngäs, H. (2008). The qualitative content analysis process. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 62(1), 107–115. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x
- 135.SFS. (2003). Lag om Etikprövning. https://etikprovningsmyndigheten.se/en/what-the-act-says/ (accessed 20 June 2022).
- 136.WMA. (2008). Declaration of Helsinki: Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects. World Medical Association. 64th WMA General Assembly, Brazil. Available online: https://www.wma.net/policies-post/wma-declaration-ofhelsinkiethical-principles-for-medical-research-involving-human-subjects/ (accessed 20 June 2022).

- 137.Palmér, L., Nyström, M., Ekeberg, M., Lindberg, E., & Karlsson, K. (2022). Pre-Understanding—A Threat to Validity in Qualitative Caring Science Research? *International Journal for Human Caring*, 26(4), 254–262. DOI: 10.20467/IJHC-2021-0013
- 138.Hernandez, I., Söderström, M., Rudman., & Dahlgren, A. (2024). Under pressure-Nursing staff's perspectives on working hours and recovery during the COVID-19 pandemic: A qualitative study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies Advances*, 7, 100225. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijnsa.2024.100225
- 139.de Cordova, P. B., Reilly, L. L., Pogorzelska, M. M., Gerolamo, A. M., Grafova, I., Vasquez, A., & Johansen, M. L. (2024). A theoretical framework for Acute Care Nurse Stress Appraisal: Application of the transactional model of stress and coping. *Journal* of Advanced Nursing, 80(9), 3835–3845. DOI: 10.1111/jan.16061
- 140.Balay-Odao, E.M., Alquwez, N., Inocian, E.P., & Alotaibi, R.S. (2021). Hospital preparedness, resilience, and psychological burden among clinical nurses in addressing the COVID-19 crisis in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. *Front Public Health*, 8, 573932. DOI: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.573932
- 141.Schroeder, K., Norful, A.A., Travers, J., & Aliyu, S. (2020). Nursing perspectives on care delivery during the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic: a qualitative study. *Int J Nurs Stud Adv*, 2. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijnsa.2020.100006
- 142. White, B., Driver, S., & Warren, A.M. (2008). Considering resilience in the rehabilitation of people with traumatic disabilities. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, 53(1), 9-17. DOI: 10.1037/0090-5550.53.1.9
- 143.Delgadoa, C., Upton, D., Ranse, K., Furness, T., & Foster, K. (2017). Nurses' resilience and the emotional labour of nursing work: An integrative review of empirical literature. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 70, 71-88. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2017.02.008
- 144.McClelland, A., & Chopra, M. (2024). Investing in and protecting nurses a healthy workplace matters. In: The Economic Power of Care, International Council of Nurses, (p.50-54). https://www.icn.ch/sites/default/files/2024-05/ICN_IND2024_report_EN_A4_6.1.pdf
- 145. American Nurses Association. (2015). *Code of ethics for nurses, with interpretive statements*. ANA. https://www.nursingworld.org/practice-policy/nursing-excellence/ethics/code-of-ethics-for-nurses/
- 146. Wong, K., Chan, A.H., & Ngan, S.C. (2019). The effect of long working hours and overtime on occupational health: a meta-analysis of evidence from 1998-2010. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(12), 2102. DOI: 10.3390/ijerph16122102
- 147. Wagstaff, A.S., & Lie, J.A.S. (2011). Shift and night work and long working hours-a systematic review of safety implications. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health.* 37(3), 173-185. DOI: 10.5271/sjweh.3146
- 148.Lombardero, A., Hansen, C.D., Richie, A.E., Campbell, D.G., & Joyce, A.W. (2019). A narrative review of the literature on insufficient sleep, insomnia, and health correlates in American Indian/ Alaska native populations. *Journal of Environmental* and Public Health, 1-14. DOI: 10.1155/2019/4306463

- 149.Jones, S.E., Maisha, F.I., Strausz, S., Cade, B., Tervi, A., Helaakoski, V., Broberg, M., Lammi, V., Lane, J.M., Redline, S., Saxena, R., & Ollila, H.M. (2022). Public health impact of poor sleep on COVID-19, influenza and upper respiratory infections. *Sleep Medicine*, 93. DOI: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2023.104630
- 150.Steinwedel, C.M. (2015). Self-care as a matter of ethics and professionalism. *MedSurg Nurs*, 24(2), 75.
 http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=fulltext&D=ovft&CSC=Y&NEWS =N&SEARCH=00008484-201503000-00002.an
- 151.González-Gil, M.T., González-Blázquez, C., Parro-Moreno, A. I., Pedraz-Marcos, A., Palmar-Santos, A., Otero-García, L., Navarta-Sánchez, M. V., Alcolea-Cosín, M. T., Argüello-López, M. T., Canalejas-Pérez, C., Carrillo-Camacho, M. E., Casillas-Santana, M. L., Díaz-Martínez, M. L., García-González, A., García-Perea, E., Martínez-Marcos, M., Martínez-Martín, M. L., Palazuelos-Puerta, M. del P., Sellán-Soto, C., & Oter-Quintana, C. (2021). Nurses' perceptions and demands regarding COVID-19 care delivery in critical care units and hospital emergency services. *Intensive Crit Care Nurs*, 62. DOI: 10.1016/j.iccn.2020.102966
- 152.International Council of Nurses. (2021). *The ICN Code of Ethics for Nurses*. https://www.icn.ch/sites/default/files/2023-06/ICN_Code-of-Ethics_EN_Web.pdf
- 153.Mlambo, M., Silén, C. & McGrath, C. (2021). Lifelong learning and nurses' continuing professional development, a metasynthesis of the literature. *BMC Nurs* 20(1), 1-13. DOI: 10.1186/s12912-021-00579-2
- 154. Teutsch, D., Frick, E., & Kubitza, J. (2025). What motivates critical care nurses to stay in their job? – Structural aspects for empowering intrinsic motivation in permissive professional contexts: A scoping review. *Intensive & Critical Care Nursing*, 88. DOI: 10.1016/j.iccn.2024.103929
- 155. Alenazy, F.S., Dettrick, Z., & Keogh, S. (2023). The relationship between practice environment, job satisfaction and intention to leave in critical care nurses. *Nurs Crit Care*, 28(2), 167-176. DOI:10.1111/nicc.12737
- 156.Minelli, A., Barlati, S., Vezzoli, M., Carletto, S., Isabello, C., & Vita, A. (2022). The elephant in the room: the stressful psychological effects of COVID-19 pandemic in mental healthcare workers. *European Psychiatry*, 65, S305. DOI: 10.1192/j.eurpsy.2022.779
- 157.Edmonson, C., Anest, P., & Gogek, J. (2022). A Profession Disrupted: Looking Back to Go Forward. *Nurse Leader*, 20(3), 281–285. DOI: 10.1016/j.mnl.2022.02.010
- 158.Chan, S., Leung, G.M., Tiwari, A.F.Y., Salili, F., Leung, S.S.K., Wong, D.C.N., & Lam, T.H. (2005). The impact of work-related risk on nurses during the SARS outbreak in Hong-Kong. *Family & Community Health*, 28(3), 274-287. https://www.jstor.org/stable/44954423
- 159. Wong, E.L.Y., Wong, S.Y.S., Kung, K., Cheung, A.W.L., Gao, T.T., & Griffiths, S. (2010). Will the community nurse continue to function during H1N1 influenza pandemic: A cross-sectional study of Hong-Kong community nurses? *BMC Health Services Research*, *10*, 107-114. DOI: 10.1186/1472-6963-10-107
- 160. Wong, E.L.Y., Wong, S.Y.S., Lee, N., Cheung, A.W.L., & Griffiths, S. (2011). Healthcare workers' duty concerns of working in the isolation ward during the novel H1N1 pandemic. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 21(910), 1466-1475. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2011.03783.x

- 161.Godley, M (2021). This is a whole different crisis than we went to school for: A day in the life of an ICU nurse during COVID-19. WALB News. https://www.walb.com/2021/03/18/this-is-a-whole-different-crisis-than-we-wentschool-day-life-an-icu-nurse-during-covid/
- 162.Ehrlich, H., McKenney, M., & Ekbuli, A. (2020). Protecting our healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic. *The American Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 38(7), 1527-1528. DOI: 10.1016/j.ajem.2020.04.024
- 163.Stephenson, P., & Warner-Stidham, A. (2024). Nurse reports of moral distress during the COVID-19 pandemic. SAGE Open Nursing, 10, 1-9. DOI: 10.1177/23779608231226095
- 164.Craw, E.S., Buckley, T.M., & Miller-Day, M. (2023). 'This isn't just busy, this is scary': Stress, social support, and coping experiences of frontline nurses during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Health Communication*, 38(10), 2047-2057. DOI: 10.1080/10410236.2022.2051270
- 165.Meirun, T., Bano, S., Javaid, M. U., Arshad, M. Z., Shah, M. U., Rehman, U., Parvez, Z. A., & Ilyas, M. (2020). Nuances of COVID-19 and psychosocial work environment on nurses' wellbeing: The mediating role of stress and eustress in lieu to JD-R theory. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11, 570236. DOI: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.570236
- 166.Gonzalez-Siles, P., Marti-Vilar, M., Gonzalez-Sala, F., Merino-Soto, C., & Toledano-Toledano, F. (2022). Sense of coherence and work stress or well-being in care professionals: A systematic review. *Healthcare*, 10(7). DOI: 10.3390/healthcare10071347
- 167.Kikuchi, Y., Nakaya, M., Ikeda, M., Okuzumi, S., Takeda, M., & Nishi, M. (2014). Sense of coherence and personality traits related to depressive state. *Psychiatry Journal*, 2014. DOI: 10.1155/2014/738923
- 168. Chen, R., Sun, C., Chen, J., Jen, H., Kang, X.L., Kao, C., & Chou, K. (2020). A large-scale survey on trauma, burnout and post-traumatic growth among nurses during the COVID-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 30(1), 102-116. DOI: 10.1111/inm.12796
- 169.Hamama-Raz, Y., Hamama, L., Pat-Horenczyk, R., Stokar, Y.N., Zilberstein, T., & Bron-Harlev, E. (2020). Posttraumatic growth and burnout in pediatric nurses: The mediating role of secondary traumatization and the moderating role of meaning in work. *Stress and Health*, 37(3), 442-453. DOI: 10.1002/smi.3007
- 170.Ida, H., Miura, M., Komoda, M., Yakura, N., Mano, T., Hamaguchi, T., Yamazaki, Y., Kato, K., & Yamauchi, K. (2009). Relationship between stress and performance in a Japanese nursing organisation. Int *J Health Care Qual Assur, 22*(6), 642-657. DOI: 10.1108/09526860910986894
- 171.Pijpker, R., Vaandrager, L., Bakker, E.J., & Koelen, M. (2018). Unraveling salutogenic mechanisms in the workplace: The role of learning. *Gaceta Sanitaria*, 32(3), 275-282. DOI: 10.1016/j.gaceta.2017.11.006
- 172. Malagon-Aguilera, M.C., Suñer-Soler, R., Bonmati-Tomas, A., Bosch-Farré, C., Gelabert-Vilella, S., & Juvinya-Canal, D. (2019). Relationship between sense of coherence, health and work engagement among nurses. *J Nurs Manag*, 27(8), 1620-1630. DOI: 10.1111/jonm.12848

- 173.Zhang, B., Du, Y., & Lin, Y. (2024). Cross-lagged relationship between sleep quality and sense of coherence and the moderating role of mastery in older adults. *Stress and Health: Journal of the International Society for the Investigation of Stress, 40*(1), e3264. DOI: 10.1002/smi.3264
- 174.Ishitsuka, M., Muroi, K., Hachisuka, T., Shibata, I., Hori, D., Doki, S., Takahashi, T., Sasahara. S., & Matsuzaki, I. (2024). Sense of coherence on the relationship between COVID-19-related stress and sleep quality among nurses. *Japan J Nurs Sci*, 21(4), e12618. DOI: 10.1111/jjns.12618
- 175. Veronese, G., & Pepe, A. (2014). Sense of coherence mediates the effect of trauma on the social and emotional functioning of Palestinian health providers. *Am J Orthopsychiatry*, 84(5), 597-606. DOI: 10.1037/ort0000025
- 176. Veronese, G., & Pepe, A. (2017). Sense of coherence as a determinant of psychological well-being across professional groups of aid workers exposed to war trauma. J Interpers. Violence, 32(13), 1899-1920. DOI: 10.1177/0886260515590125
- 177.Morelli, S. A., Lee, I. A., Arnn, M. E., & Zaki, J. (2015). Emotional and instrumental support provision interact to predict well-being. *Emotion*, 15(4), 484–493. DOI: 10.1037/emo0000084
- 178.Mathieu, M., Eschleman, K. J., & Cheng, D. (2019). Meta-analytic and multiwave comparison of emotional support and instrumental support in the workplace. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 24(3), 387–409. DOI: 10.1037/ocp0000135
- 179.Chua, B.S., Cosmas, G., & Arsat, N. (2021). Nurses' preparedness, readiness, and anxiety in managing COVID-19 pandemic. Asia Pac J Public Health, 33(5), 564-570. https://www.jstor.org/stable/27115026
- 180.Del Pozo-Antúnez, J.J., Ariza-Montes, A., Fernández-Navarro, F., & Molina-Sánchez, H. (2018). Effect of a Job Demand-Control-Social Support Model on Accounting Professionals' Health Perception. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(11). DOI: 10.3390/ijerph15112437
- 181.Eisenberger R, Huntington R, Hutchison S, et al. (1986). Perceived organizational support. *Journal of Applied Psychology* 71(3): 500–507. DOI: 10.1037/0021-9010.71.3.500
- 182.Gustavsson, M.E., von Schreeb, J., Arnberg, F.K. et al. (2023). Being prevented from providing good care: a conceptual analysis of moral stress among health care workers during the COVID-19 pandemic. *BMC Med Ethics* 24, 110. DOI: 10.1186/s12910-023-00993-y
- 183.Salonen, H., Lahtinen, M., Lappalainen, S., Nevala, N., Knibbs, L.D., Morawska, L., & Reijula, K. (2013). Physical characteristics of the indoor environment that affect health and wellbeing in healthcare facilities: A review. *Intelligent Buildings International*, 5(1), 3-25. DOI: 10.1080/17508975.2013.764838
- 184.Shetty, R.S., Kamath, G.B., Rodrigues, L.L.R., Nandineni, R.D., & Shetty, S.R. (2024). The impact of the physical environment on staff in healthcare facilities: A systematic literature review. *Buildings*, 14 (9), 2773. DOI: 10.3390/buildings14092773
- 185.Sigursteinsdóttir, H., & Karlsdottir, F. (2022). Does Social Support Matter in the Workplace? Social Support, Job Satisfaction, Bullying and Harassment in the Workplace during COVID-19. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19, 4724. DOI: 10.3390/ijerph19084724.

- 186.Wu, S., Xu, Q., Tian, H., Li, R., & Wu, X. (2025). The relationship between social support and work engagement of rural teachers: a moderated mediation model. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 15. DOI: 10.3389/fpsyg.2024.1479097.
- 187.Rousseau, V., & Aubé, C. (2010). Social support at work and affective commitment to the organization: The moderating effect of job resource adequacy and ambient conditions. J. Soc. Psychol, 150, 321–340. DOI: 10.1080/00224540903365380
- 188.Spence Laschinger, H.K., Finegan, J., & Shamian, J. (2002). The impact of workplace empowerment, organizational trust on staff nurses' work satisfaction and organizational commitment. *Health care management review*, 26(3), 7–23. DOI: 10.1097/00004010-200107000-00002
- 189.McCormack, B; & McCance, T. (2017). *Person-centred practice in nursing and health care: theory and practice*. Chichester: Wiley Blackwell.
- 190.Miles, A., & Asbridge, J.A. (2014). Clarifying the concepts, epistemology and lexicon of person-centeredness: an essential pre-requisite for the effective operationalization of PCH within modern healthcare systems. *European Journal for Person Centred Healthcare*, 2(1), 1-15. DOI: 10.5750/ejpch.v2i1.857
- 191.Miles, A. (2020). Person-centred care as the new professionalism Raising the bar from the lower denominator of legally acceptable regulatory competence to the higher numerator of clinical excellence. *European Journal for Person Centred Healthcare*, 8(1), 1-16. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/343583816
- 192.Backman, A., Ahnlund, P., Sjögren, K., Lövheim, H., McGilton, K.S., & Edvardsson, D. (2020). Embodying person-centred being and doing: Leading towards person-centred care in nursing homes as narrated by managers. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 29(1-2), 172-183. DOI: 10.1111/jocn.15075
- 193.Edvardsson, D., Fetherstonhaugh, D., McAuliffe, L., Nay, R., & Chenco, C. (2011). Job satisfaction amongst aged care staff: exploring the influence of person-centred care provision. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 23(8), 1205-1212. DOI: 10.1017/S1041610211000159
- 194.Sjögren, K., Lindkvist, M., Sandman, P.O., Zingmark, K., & Edvardsson, D. (2013). Personcentredness and its association with resident well-being in dementia care units. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 69(10), 2196-2206. DOI: 10.1111/jan.12085
- 195.Nilsson, K., & Nilsson E. (2021). Organisational Measures and Strategies for a Healthy and Sustainable Extended Working Life and Employability—A Deductive Content Analysis with Data Including Employees, First Line Managers, Trade Union Representatives and HR-Practitioners. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health*, 18, 5626. DOI:10.3390/ijerph18115626
- 196.Orrung Wallin, A., Jakobsson, U., & Edberg, A.K. (2012). Job satisfaction and associated variables among nurse assistants working in residential care. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 24(12), 1904-1918. DOI: 10.1017/S1041610212001159
- 197.Christodoulou, G.N., Mezzich, J.E., Cloninger, C.R., Christodoulou, N., Villar, E., Appleyard, J., & Botbol, M. (2018). Promoting healthy lives and well-being for all: The contribution of the International College of Person-Centered Medicine (ICPCM). *Psychiatriki*, 29(1), 52-57. DOI: 10.22365/jpsych.2018.291.52.
- 198.Lee, H., Chiang, H., & Kuo, H. (2019). Relationship between authentic leadership and nurse's intent to leave: The mediating role of work environment and burnout. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 27, 52-65. DOI: 10.1111/jonm.12648

- 199.Ribeiro do Valle, R., Balsanelli, A., Taminato, M., Saconato, H., & Gasparino, R. (2020). The relationship between the authentic leadership of nurses and structural empowerment: A systematic review. *Rev Esc Enferm USP*, 55, e03667. DOI: 10.1590/S1980-220X2019029003667.
- 200.Kleinman, C. (2004). Leadership: A key strategy in staff nurse retention. *The Journal* of Continuing Education in Nursing, 35(3), 128-132. DOI: 10.3928/0022-0124-20040501-09.
- 201.Bobbio, A., & Manganelli, A.M. (2015). Antecedents of hospital nurses' intention to leave the organization: A cross sectional survey. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 52(7), 1180–1192. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2015.03.00
- 202.Li, C.Y., & Sung, P.C. (1999). A review of the healthy worker effect in occupational epidemiology. *Occup. Med*, 49(4), 225-229. DOI: 10.1093/occmed/49.4.225
- 203.Lincoln, Y.S., & Guba, E.G. (1986). But is it rigorous? Trustworthiness and authenticity in naturalistic evaluation. *Special Issue: Naturalistic Evaluation*, 30, 73-84. DOI: 10.1002/ev.1427
- 204.Lundman, B., & Hällgren Graneheim, U. (2008). Kvalitativ innehållsanalys. In Tillämpad kvalitativ forskning inom hälso- och sjukvård. Retrieved from https://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:umu:diva-10192
- 205.Creswell, J.W., & Creswell, J.D. (2018). *Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches* (1st ed). Sage.
- 206.Polit, D., & Beck, C. (2020). Nursing Research: Generating and Assessing Evidence for Nursing Practice (11th ed). Wolters Kluwer.
- 207. United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs. Sustainable Development Goals. https://sdgs.un.org/goals
- 208.Sartini, M., Carbone, A., Demartini, A., Giribone, L., Oliva, M., Spagnolo, A.M., Cremonesi, P., Canale, F., & Cristina, M.L. (2022). Overcrowding in Emergency Department: Causes, Consequences, and Solutions-A Narrative Review. *Healthcare*, 10(9), 1625. DOI: 10.3390/healthcare10091625.
- 209.Shen, M., Gao, S., & Wang, H. (2023). The effect of social crowding on self-perceived health risks in healthcare services. *Psychology & Marketing*, 40(4), 845–862. DOI: 10.1002/mar.21771
- 210.Poortaghi, S., Shahmari, M., & Ghobadi, A. (2021). Exploring nursing managers' perceptions of nursing workforce management during the outbreak of COVID-19: A content analysis study. *BMC Nursing*, 20(1), 1-10. DOI: 10.1186/s12912-021-00546-x
- 211.WHO. (2016). *Global strategy on human resources for health: Workforce 2030*. World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241511131
- 212. Tsai, P-S. (2024). Shaping the future of nursing. *Journal of Nursing Research*, *32*(2), e317. DOI: 10.1097/jnr.000000000000000009
- 213.Work Environment Agency, 2024:1 https://www.av.se/en/work-environment-workand-inspections/acts-and-regulations-about-work-environment/about-the-workenvironment-act/
- 214.Burton, R.J., Albur, M., Eberl, M. et al. (2019). Using artificial intelligence to reduce diagnostic workload without compromising detection of urinary tract infections. *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 19*, 171. DOI: 10.1186/s12911-019-0878-9
- 215.Meskó, B., Drobni, Z., Bényei, É., Gergely, B., & Győrffy, Z. (2017). Digital health is a cultural transformation of traditional healthcare. *MHealth*, 3(9). DOI: 10.21037/mhealth.2017.08.07

Interview guide

1. What is your educational background?

2. What professions and workplaces have you worked at/in before you started working at your current workplace?

3. How long have you worked as a Registered Nurse? Specialist nurse?

4. Describe why you started working as nurse

5. I would like for you to describe your feelings when you first heard of COVID-19

6. Describe with your own words what happened when the pandemic came

7. Describe how you experience your health in relation to your work, work situation and work environment before, during and after the pandemic.

8. Describe how you experience your physical work environment before, during and after the pandemic.

9. Did you get infected with COVID-19?

10. Describe how you experience your mental work environment and work situation before, during and after the pandemic.

11. Describe how you experience your opportunity to recuperation before, during and after the pandemic.

12. Describe how the work situation has affected your economy before, during and after the pandemic.

13. Describe how you experience your private social environment before, during and after the pandemic.

14. Describe how you experience your work social environment before, during and after the pandemic.

15. Describe how you experience:

a) your work satisfaction before, during and after the pandemic

b) your stimulance with work tasks before, during and after the pandemic

16. Describe how you experience your knowledge, ability and opportunity for competence development before, during and after the pandemic.

17. Describe a work situation you experienced as problematic and negative, that made you want to leave your workplace/profession before, during and after the pandemic.

18. Describe a work situation you experienced as strengthening and positive, that made you want to continue working in your workplace/profession before, during and after the pandemic.

19. What would you like to improve regarding: Your self-rated health, Your physical work environment, Your mental work environment, Your work time, work pace, recuperation, Your personal finances, Your private social environment, Your work social environment, Your work satisfaction, motivation and stimulance with work tasks, Your competence development

20. Describe what works extra well in your work situation regarding: Your self-rated health, Your physical work environment, Your mental work environment, Your work time, work pace, recuperation, Your personal finances, Your private social environment, Your work social environment, Your work satisfaction, motivation and stimulance with work tasks, Your competence development

23. To summarize: What makes you want and be able to continue working in your profession and at your workplace? Has it changed since before the pandemic? In what way?

About the author

CICILIA NAGEL has a background as an anaesthetic nurse and education with a special interest in nurses' health and work situation. Cicilia is employed at Kristianstad University and did her doctoral studies at Lunds University. The overall purpose of the thesis is to investigate and develop new knowledge about how the COVID-19 pandemic affected the work situation and health of nurses, as well as what preventive measures need to be taken in the healthcare organization in the face of similar future scenarios.



This thesis highlights the critical need to empower nurses by giving them more control over their work, which enhances job satisfaction, productivity, and psychological resilience. The pandemic emphasized the importance of balancing care duties with nurses' safety and well-being, requiring supportive management, adequate resources, and a healthy work environment. Nurses faced significant stress and frustration due to inadequate protective measures and organizational shortcomings, underscoring the need for robust support systems. The resilience shown by some nurses points to the potential for post-traumatic growth and the importance of a supportive work culture. Creating a person-centered workplace that values healthcare staff's needs and well-being is crucial for handling future crises and maintaining high patient care standards.



FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Department of Laboratory Medicine

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2025:37 ISBN 978-91-8021-690-6 ISSN 1652-8220

